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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item I. Financial Statements
The unaudited consolidated financial statements are filed as part of the Form. It is prepared in
compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued by the Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) and adopted by the Philippine Securities and
Exchange Commission.
The unaudited consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
derivative financial instruments, financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL) and investments in quoted equity shares which are measured at fair value. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, Lopez Holdings’ functional and
presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest million peso, except when otherwise
indicated.

Item II. Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations (Unaudited)
Lopez Holdings reported P4.355 billion in net income attributable to equity holders of the Parent
for the first nine months of 2015. This is 38% higher than the P3.154 billion in net income
attributable to equity holders of the Parent reported in the first nine months of 2014. The recovery
of impairment losses from investments in its erstwhile telecom unit accounted for the favorable
variance.
On July 21, 2015, Globe Telecom, Inc. (“Globe”) agreed to purchase from Bayan
Telecommunications Holdings Corporation (“BTHC”) and Lopez Holdings all the equity in the
capital stock of Bayan Telecommunications, Inc. (“Bayan”) that is held by BTHC and Lopez
Holdings, valued at approximately P1.83 billion (the “Transaction”). The Transaction followed the
conversion of Bayan debt into equity provided under the resolution of Bayan’s Rehabilitation Court
(Regional Trial Court Branch 158 Pasig City) in SEC Case 03-25 dated August 27, 2013, and
approved by the National Telecommunications Commission on July 2, 2015. The Transaction
involves up to 70,763,707 Bayan shares and increases Globe’s equity interests in Bayan from
56.87% to 98.57% of outstanding capital stock. LHC holds 717,335 shares in Bayan.
The Lopez Holdings board approved the Transaction on July 9, 2015. The transaction allows the
unlocking of the intrinsic value of Bayan as a duly enfranchised entity whose performance has
been hindered by its significant debt load, and allows Lopez Holdings to recover a portion of its
investment in Bayan.
In July 2015 partial recovery of impairment losses related to BTHC/Bayan as a result of the
Transaction amounted to P1.5 billion (net of related exepnses). On November 6, 2015, after
receiving clearance from the Bureau of Internal Revenue and the transfer of shares to Globe, the
transaction was finally consummated and the remaining balance of 10% or P183 million was
received.
Unaudited consolidated revenues of Lopez Holdings slipped by 4% year-on-year at P72.526 billion
compared to P75.505 billion. Equity in net earnings of associates/PDRs and joint venture
increased by 28%, reflecting the solid operating and financial performance of ABS-CBN, despite
its continued investments in new businesses. Meanwhile, sale of electricity (flat), real estate (22%), contracts and services (-44%), and sale of merchandise (+22%) reflect the performance of
business units held by First Philippine Holdings Corporation.
Unaudited consolidated costs and expenses for the period slipped also by 4% at P54.061 billion
versus P56.500 billion. Changes in cost of sale of electricity (-2%), real estate (-27%), contracts
and services (-43%), merchandise sold (+11%) and general and administrative expenses (+9%)
reflect FPH accounts.

FPH and associates contributed to higher finance costs (+12%) and foreign exchange losses
(+572%), and lower finance income (-7%) and other income-net (-3%). The peso continued to
weaken against the dollar during the period.
Associates/PDRs and joint venture
FPH reported a 22% decrease in net income attributable to equity holders of the Parent to P3.697
billion in 9M2015 from P4.738 billion in 9M2014. Its revenues for the period edged lower by 4% to
P71.231 billion from P74.473 billion. Sale of electricity accounted for 88% of revenues in 9M2015
versus 85% in 9M2014.
ABS-CBN registered a 23% increase in net income for 9M2015 to P1.894 billion from P1.540
billion, driven by solid advertising revenues (+10%) and consumer sales (+13%) after ABS-CBN
TV Plus was commercially launched in February 2015. It reported unaudited net revenues of
P27.826 billion, 11% higher than P25.057 billion in 9M2014. Ad sales accounted for 55% of ABSCBN revenues during the period, almost the same as the 56% in 9M2014.
Key Performance Indicators
As a holding company, Lopez Holdings receives revenues from asset sales and dividends from
investees. Hence, the key performance indicator with the most direct impact on Lopez Holdings is
the net income of investees. Any dividend received by Lopez Holdings is based on the investees’
net income in the previous year. For the period in review, the financial performance of investees
was within expectations.
In the nine months of 2015, Lopez Holdings received cash dividends of P289 million from its
investment in PDRs and P254 million from its common shares of FPH, the same amounts as in
9M2014. On November 5, 2015, FPH declared cash dividends of P1.00 per share payable to
common stockholders of record as of November 20 and payable on December 2.
Following are the KPIs for Lopez Holdings for comparative periods as of September 30, 2015 and
2014.
KPI
Return on Average
Stockholders' Equity - reflects
how much the Company has
earned on the funds invested
by the shareholders
Long-term Debt to Equity
Ratio – measures the
Company’s financial leverage
Current Ratio - indicator of the
Company's ability to pay shortterm obligations
Earnings per Share - the
portion of the Company's profit
allocated to each outstanding
share of common stock.
Book Value per Share measure used by owners of
common shares of the
Company to determine the level
of safety associated with each
individual share after all debts
are paid.

Formula

Net Income*/Average
Equity**

September 30
2015
2014

8.58%

7.12%

Long-term debt***/Equity**

2.97

2.94

Current assets/Current
liabilities

2.08

1.91

Net income*/Weighted
average number of shares

P
= 0.9479

P
= 0.6872

Equity**/ Weighted
average number of shares

P
= 11.48

P
= 10.62

*Net income attributable to equity holders of Parent
**Equity pertains to equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company and excludes
cumulative translation adjustments, share in other comprehensive income, effect of equity
transactions of subsidiaries
***Excludes current portion of long-term debt.
Financial Condition
Movements in: Cash and cash equivalents (-3%), short-term investments (-12%), trade and other
receivables (-5%), inventories (+14%), other current assets (+104%), assets of discontinued
operations held for sale (-27%), investments in equity and debt securities (+9%), property, plant
and equipment (+10%), investment in a joint venture (+7%), investment properties (+12%),
goodwill and intangible assets (-1%), deferred tax assets-net (-5%), other noncurrent assets
(+19%), trade payables and other current liabilities (+12%), loans payable (+7%), income tax
payable (+7%), current portion of long-term debts (-33%), liabilities related to assets of
discontinued operations held for sale (+7%), long-term debts-net of current portion (+9%),
derivative liabilities (+11%), deferred tax liabilities-net (+2%), retirement and other long-term
employee benefits liability (+14%), asset retirement and preservation obligations (+5%), other
noncurrent liabilities (+57%), unrealized fair value gains on investment in equity securities
(+107%), cumulative translation adjustments (+46%), and equity reserve (+4%) are FPH accounts.
Investments in and advances to associates/PDRs (+8%) reflects the company’s share (equity) in
the favorable performance of ABS-CBN during the period. Capital in excess of par value (+37%)
reflects full payment of ESPP and exercise of ESOP. Increase in retained earnings (+9%) reflects
the attributable net income for the period.
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group’s principal financial liabilities consist of loans payable, bonds payable and long-term
debts. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise financing for the Group’s growth
and operations. The Group has other various financial instruments such as cash equivalents,
short-term investments, trade and other receivables, investments in equity securities, trade
payables and other current liabilities which arise directly from its operations. The Group also
enters into derivative and hedging transactions, primarily interest rate swaps, cross-currency swap
and foreign currency forwards, as needed, for the sole purpose of managing the relevant financial
risks that are associated with the Group’s borrowing activities and as required by the lenders in
certain cases.
The Group has an Enterprise-wide Risk Management Program which aims to identify risks based
on the likelihood of occurrence and impact to the business, formulate risk management strategies,
assess risk management capabilities and continuously monitor the risk management efforts. The
main financial risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, credit concentration risk, and equity price risk. The BOD
reviews and approves policies for managing each of these risks as summarized below. The
Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivative financial instruments are set out in Note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s long-term debts with floating interest rates. The Group policy is to manage interest cost
through a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. On a regular basis, the Finance team of the Group
monitors the interest rate exposure and presents it to management by way of a compliance report.
To manage the exposure to floating interest rates in a cost-efficient manner, the Group may
consider prepayment, refinancing, or entering into derivative instruments as deemed necessary
and feasible.
Approximately 69% of the Group’s borrowings are subject to fixed interest rate.

Interest Rate Risk Table. The following table set out the carrying amounts, by maturity, of the
Group’s financial instruments that are subject to interest rate risk:
2014
More than
1 Year
up to
3 Years

More than
3 Years
up to
5 Years

More than
5 Years

Total

P
= 26

P
=–

P
=–

P
=–

P
= 26

1.5% + 6 months PDST F
rate or BSP overnight
rate, whichever is
higher

1,008

2,016

1,056

–

4,080

3.61%
2.59%
2.95%
4.50%
2.04%

370
880
1,300
382
–

593
2,301
3,775
808
179

–
2,842
–
893
3,256

–
6,971
–
1,487
–

963
12,994
5,075
3,570
3,435

2.00% - 2.06%
2.34%
2.69%
6.13% 6.33%

783
32
124
103

4,696
135
529
440

–
174
684
569

–
1,246
4,879
4,058

5,479
1,587
6,216
5,170

3 months LIBOR + 3.50%

115

231

231

345

922

Interest Rates

Within
1 Year
(Amounts in Millions)

Floating Rate
Parent Company
Series A-2 P
= 2.0 billion

FPH
P
= 4,800 million FRCNs

Power Generation Companies
Uncovered Facility
Term Loan Facility
Staple Financing
PNB and Allied Bank Loan
US$80.0 million
US$175M Refinanced Syndicated
Term Loan
$35.5M Commercial Debt Facility
$139.0M ECA Debt Facility
5.17 B Commercial Debt Facility
Manufacturing Companies
First Philec’s $20.6 million
Philippine National Bank (PNB)
Loan

1-1/8% above
91-day treasury bill
rates

Floating interest rates on financial instruments are repriced semi-annually on each interest
payment date. Interest on financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until the maturity of
the instrument.
The effect of changes in interest rates in equity pertains to the fair valuation of derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges and is exclusive of the impact of changes affecting the Group’s
consolidated statements of income.
The Group determined the +/- 1% reasonably possible change based on linear estimates of the
future foreign exchange rate based on the previous 12-month average monthly foreign exchange
rates.
Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
Foreign Currency Risk with Respect to U.S. Dollar. The Group, except First Gen group, FSRI,
BPPC, FPSC, First PV, FPNC, FGHC International and FPH Fund, is exposed to foreign currency
risk through cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments denominated in U.S. dollar.
Any depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Philippine peso posts foreign exchange losses
relating to cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments.
To better manage the foreign exchange risk, stabilize cash flows, and further improve the
investment and cash flow planning, the Group may consider derivative contracts and other
hedging products as necessary. The U.S.dollar denominated monetary assets are translated to
Philippine peso using the exchange rate of P
= 45.09 to US$1.00 and P
= 44.72 to US$1.00 as at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
Foreign Currency Risk with Respect to Philippine Peso and Euro. First Gen group’s exposure to
foreign currency risk arises as the functional currency of First Gen and certain subsidiaries, the
U.S. dollar, is not the local currency in its country of operations. Certain financial assets and

liabilities as well as some costs and expenses are denominated in Philippine peso or in European
Union euro. To manage the foreign currency risk, First Gen group may consider entering into
derivative transactions, as necessary.
In the case of EDC, its exposure to foreign currency risk is mitigated to some degree by some
provisions of its GRESC’s, SSA’s and PPA’s. The service contracts allow full cost recovery while
its sales contracts include billing adjustments covering the movements in Philippine peso and the
U.S. dollar rates, U.S. Price and Consumer Indices, and other inflation factors.
The effect of changes in foreign currency rates in equity pertains to the fair valuation of the
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and is exclusive of the impact of changes affecting the
Group’s consolidated statements of income.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur losses from customers, clients or counterparties that
fail to discharge their contracted obligations. The Group manages credit risk by setting limits on
the amount of risk the Group is willing to accept for individual counterparties and by monitoring
exposures in relation to such limits.
As a policy, the Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties and/or transacts only
with institutions and/or banks which have demonstrated financial soundness. Credit verification
procedures for customers on credit terms are done. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the level of the allowance account is reviewed on an ongoing basis to
ensure that the Group’s exposure to credit risk is not significant. With respect to credit risk arising
from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise mostly of cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments and trade and other receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these
instruments.
Credit Risk Exposure. The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk of the
Group as at December 31, 2014 (Amounts in Millions):
2014
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents*
Short-term investments
Trade and other receivables:
Trade
Others
Investments in equity and debt securities
Special deposits and funds
Financial asset at FVPL - derivative assets
Financial asset accounted for as cash flow hedge derivative assets
Other current assets
Total credit exposure

P
= 46,679
5,335
29,079
2,696
12,124
100
524
–

44
P
= 96,581

*Excluding the Group’s cash on hand amounting to P
= 2 million in 2014. The Group’s deposit accounts in
certain banks are covered by the Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance coverage.

The Group holds no significant collateral as security and there are no significant credit
enhancements in respect of the above assets.
Aging Analysis of Financial Assets. The following tables show the Group’s aging analysis of past
due but not impaired financial assets as at December 31, 2014:
2014
Neither
Past Due
nor
Impaired

< 30
Days

30–60
Days

Past Due but not Impaired
61–90
91–120
Days
Days

> 120
Days

Total

Impaired

Total

(Amounts in Millions)
Loans and Receivables
Cash and cash
equivalents
Short-term investments
Trade and other
receivables
Special deposits and
funds
Investments in equity
and
debt
secutrities
Other current assets
Financial asset at FVPL
-derivative asset
Financial asset
accounted for as
cash flow hedge derivative asset

P
= 46,679
5,335

P
=–
–

P
=–
–

P
=–
–

P
=–
–

P
=–
–

P
=–
–

P
=–
–

P
= 46,679
5,335

26,294

1,599

1,497

1,376

932

88

5,492

519

32,305

112

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

112

12,124
44

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

12,124
44

524

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

524

224
P
= 91,336

–
P
= 1,599

–
P
= 1,497

–
P
= 1,376

–
P
= 932

–
P
= 88

–
P
= 5,492

–
P
= 519

224
P
= 97,346

Credit Quality of Neither Past Due Nor Impaired Financial Assets. The payment history of the counter
parties and their ability to settle their obligations are considered in evaluating credit quality. Financial
assets are classified as high grade if the counterparties are not expected to default in settling their
obligations, thus, credit exposure is minimal. These counterparties normally include banks, related
parties and customers who pay on or before due date. Financial assets are classified as standard
grade if the counterparties settle their obligations to the Group with tolerable delays. Low grade
accounts are accounts which have probability of impairment based on historical trend. These accounts
show propensity of default in payment despite regular follow-up actions and extended payment terms.
The financial assets categorized as neither past due nor impaired are viewed by management as high
grade.
Concentration of Credit Risk
The Group, through First Gen’s operating subsidiaries namely, FGP and FGPC, earns a substantial
portion of its revenues from Meralco. Meralco is committed to pay for the capacity and energy
generated by the San Lorenzo and Santa Rita power plants under the existing long-term PPAs which
are due to expire in September 2027 and August 2025, respectively. While the PPAs provide for the
mechanisms by which certain costs and obligations including fuel costs, among others, are passedthrough to Meralco or are otherwise recoverable from Meralco, it is the intention of First Gen, FGP and
FGPC to ensure that the pass-through mechanisms, as provided for in their respective PPAs, are
followed.
EDC’s geothermal and power generation businesses trade with NPC as its major customer. Any
failure on the part of NPC to pay its obligations to EDC would significantly affect EDC’s business
operations.
Under the current regulatory regime, the generation rates charged by FGP and FGPC to Meralco are
not subject to regulations and are complete pass-through charges to Meralco’s customers.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparties, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of the receivables from Meralco, in the case of FGP and
FGPC, and the receivables from NPC, in the case of EDC.
Liquidity Risk
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk refers to lack of funding needed to finance its growth and capital
expenditures, service its maturing loan obligations in a timely fashion, and meet its working capital
requirements. To manage this exposure, the Group maintains internally generated funds and
prudently manages the proceeds obtained from fundraising in the debt and equity markets. On a
regular basis, the Group’s Treasury Department monitors the available cash balances. The Group
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed sufficient to finance the operations.

In addition, the Group has short-term investments and has available credit lines with certain banking
institutions. FGP and FGPC, in particular, maintain a Debt Service Revenue Account to sustain the
debt service requirements for the next payment period. As part of its liquidity risk management, the
Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flows. It also continuously assesses the
financial market conditions for opportunities to pursue fund raising activities.
As at December 31, 2014, 17% of the Group’s debts will mature in less than one year, based on the
carrying value of borrowings reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Equity Price Risk
The Group’s quoted equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties
about future values of the investment in equity securities. The Group manages the equity price risk
through diversification and by placing limits on individual and total equity instruments. The Group’s
BOD reviews and approves all equity investment decisions.
Capital Management
The primary objective of the Parent Company’s capital management is to arrive at a debt restructuring
agreement with its creditors in order to maximize shareholder value. Capital includes all the items
appearing in the equity attributable to the Parent Company amounting to P
= 46,329 and P
= 42,291 million
as at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. As discussed in Note 1(b), the
Parent Company defaulted on its principal and interest payments on its long-term direct and indirect
obligations. The Parent Company’s BSMP addresses all its financial obligations.
As of September 30, 2015, remaining unrestructured loans under the BSMP amounted to
P
= 26 million.
Under the BSMP, cash is reserved for debt service and working capital requirements. The Parent
Company has no material commitments for capital expenditures and has not made any major
investments since 2002 until 2013. Proceeds of asset sales are placed in short-term financial
instruments under the Parent Company’s International Organization on Standardization-certified
Money Market Operations procedure. Payment requirements for interest and operating expenses are
withdrawn using the same process.
Certain of its subsidiaries are obligated to perform certain covenants with respect to maintaining
specified debt-to-equity and minimum debt-service-coverage ratios, as set forth in their respective
agreements with the creditors.
There are no any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have material
impact on the Company’s liquidity or sales; there are no material off-balance sheet transactions,
arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the company with
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period; and, there are no events that
will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the company, including any default or
acceleration of an obligation, other than those disclosed above and in the notes to consolidated financial
statements herein attached. Also, the Company has no material commitments for capital expenditures.

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
The Company has no other information that needs to be disclosed other than disclosures
made under SEC Form 17-C.

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Amounts in Millions)

September 30
2015
(Unaudited)

December 31
2014
(Audited)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Assets of discontinued operations held for sale
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Investments in and advances to associates/Philippine Depository
Receipts (PDRs)
Investments in equity and debt securities
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in a joint venture
Investment properties
Goodwill and intangible assets
Deferred tax assets - net
Other noncurrent assets
Total Noncurrent Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

P
= 45,173
4,681
30,112
17,416
13,253
110,635
746
111,381

P
= 46,681
5,335
31,776
15,218
6,495
105,505
1,021
106,526

15,528
13,010
130,367
3,597
14,472
53,314
1,964
17,379
249,631
P
= 361,012

14,421
11,953
118,938
3,354
12,872
53,971
2,064
14,625
232,198
P
= 338,724

P
= 35,491
2,221
996
12,696
51,404

P
= 31,654
2,075
928
19,051
53,708

2,154
53,558

2,021
55,729

156,565
1,656
3,242
3,431
1,529
1,767
168,190
P
= 221,748

143,157
1,491
3,179
3,021
1,452
1,128
153,428
P
= 209,157

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade payables and other current liabilities
Loans payable
Income tax payable
Current portion of long-term debts
Liabilities related to assets of discontinued operations held for
sale
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debts - net of current portion
Derivative liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities - net
Retirement and other long-term employee benefits liability
Asset retirement and preservation obligations
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities
(Forward)

-2September 30
2015
(Unaudited)

December 31
2014
(Audited)

Equity
Common stock
Capital in excess of par value
Share-based payment plans
Unrealized fair value gains on investment in equity securities
Cumulative translation adjustments
Equity reserve
Retained earnings

P
= 4,598
74
63
2,926
(3,629)
(5,755)
48,052

P
= 4,593
54
63
1,415
(2,479)
(5,529)
44,174

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

46,329

42,291

92,935
139,264

87,276
129,567

P
= 361,012

P
= 338,724

Non-controlling Interests
Total Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Amounts in Millions, Except Per Share Data)

Nine Months Ended September 30

REVENUES
Sale of electricity
Real estate
Contracts and services
Sale of merchandise
Equity in net earnings of associates/PDRs and joint venture
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of sale of electricity
General and administrative expenses
Contracts and services
Real estate
Merchandise sold
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Finance costs
Finance income
Foreign exchange gain (loss) - net
Other income (expense) - net
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)
INCOME TAX
Current
Deferred
NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
NET LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 5)
NET INCOME

Attributable to
Equity holders of the Parent
Non-controlling Interests

Earnings per Share for Net Income Attributable
to the Equity Holders of the Parent
Basic
Diluted
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2015

2014

P
= 62,836
3,892
2,810
1,562
1,426
72,526

P
= 63,122
4,993
4,995
1,284
1,111
75,505

38,468
9,897
2,017
2,569
1,110
54,061

39,332
9,084
3,545
3,537
1,002
56,500

(7,187)
1,151
(1,216)
3,419
(3,833)

(6,433)
1,234
(181)
3,535
(1,845)

14,632

17,160

3,224
(67)
3,157
P
= 11,475
(204)

3,196
141
3,337
P
= 13,823
(483)

P
= 11,271

P
= 13,340

P
= 4,355
6,916

P
= 3,154
10,186

P
= 11,271

P
= 13,340

P
= 0.9479
P
= 0.9435

P
= 0.6872
P
= 0.6870

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Amounts in Millions, Except Per Share Data)

For the Quarter Ended September 30

REVENUES
Sale of electricity
Real estate
Contracts and services
Sale of merchandise
Equity in net earnings of associates/PDRs and joint venture
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of sale of electricity
General and administrative expenses
Contracts and services
Real estate
Merchandise sold
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Finance costs
Finance income
Foreign exchange gain (loss) - net
Other income (expense) - net
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)
INCOME TAX
Current
Deferred
NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
NET LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 5)

2015

2014

P
= 19,890
1,386
852
612
531
23,271

P
= 21,449
1,727
2,904
441
406
26,927

12,253
3,163
477
983
475
17,351

13,995
2,946
1,286
1,580
434
20,241

(2,306)
346
(963)
2,031
(892)

(2,166)
496
(651)
2,594
273

5,028

6,959

1,003
(32)
971

1,123
267
1,390

P
= 4,057
(36)

P
= 5,569
(185)

NET INCOME

P
= 4,021

P
= 5,384

Attributable to
Equity holders of the Parent
Non-controlling Interests

P
= 2,402
1,619

P
= 1,339
4,045

P
= 4,021

P
= 5,384

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Millions)

Nine Months Ended September 30
2015
2014
NET INCOME
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Unrealized fair value gains (losses) on
investment in equity securities - net of tax
Net gains (losses) on cash flow hedge
deferred in equity - net of tax
Exchange gains (losses) on foreign currency
translation
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Attributable to
Equity holders of the Parent
Non-controlling Interests

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

P
= 11,271

P
= 13,340

3,256

(77)

−

1,221

(2,494)
762
P
= 12,033

98
1,242
P
= 14,582

P
= 4,716
7,317

P
= 3,708
10,874

P
= 12,033

P
= 14,582

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Millions)

For the Quarter Ended September 30
2015
2014
NET INCOME

P
= 4,021

P
= 5,384

1,367

31

−

941

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(2,057)
(690)
P
= 3,331

(113)
859
P
= 6,243

Attributable to
Equity holders of the Parent
,Non-controlling Interests

P
= 2,172
1,159

P
= 1,770
4,473

P
= 3,331

P
= 6,243

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Unrealized fair value gains (losses) on
investment in equity securities - net of tax
Net gains (losses) on cash flow hedge
deferred in equity - net of tax
Exchange gains (losses) on foreign currency
translation

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015, AND 2014
(Amounts in Millions)

Common Stock

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Unrealized
Fair Value
Gains on
Capital in
Investment
Cumulative
Excess of
Share-based
in Equity
Translation
Equity
Par Value Payment Plans
Securities
Adjustments
Reserve

Balance at January 1, 2015
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Dividend declared
Transactions with Non Controlling Interests
Exercise of options
Balance at September 30, 2015

P
= 4,593
–
–
–
–
5
P
= 4,598

P
= 54
–
–
–
–
20
P
= 74

Balance at January 1, 2014
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Dividend declared
Transactions with Non Controlling Interests
Exercise of options
Balance at September 30, 2014

P
= 4,588
–
–
–
–
2
P
= 4,590

P
= 31
–
–
–
–
7
P
= 38

P
= 63
–
–
–
–
–
P
= 63

P
= 69
–
–
–
–
–
P
= 69

Retained
Earnings

Total

Non-controlling
Interests

Total
Equity

P
= 1,415
–
1,511
–
–
–
P
= 2,926

(P
= 2,479)
–
(1,150)
–
–
–
(P
= 3,629)

(P
= 5,529)
–
–
–
(226)
–
(P
= 5,755)

P
= 44,174
4,355
(34)
(463)
20
–
P
= 48,052

P
= 42,291
4,355
327
(463)
(206)
25
P
= 46,329

P
= 87,276
6,916
401
–
(1,658)
–
P
= 92,935

P
= 129,567
11,271
728
(463)
(1,864)
25
P
= 139,264

P
= 1,319
–
31
–
–
–
P
= 1,350

(P
= 1,563)
–
571
–
–
–
(P
= 992)

(P
= 3,774)
–
(48)
–
–
–
(P
= 3,822)

P
= 41,008
3,154
–
(463)
–
–
P
= 43,699

P
= 41,678
3,154
554
(463)
–
9
P
= 44,932

P
= 75,011
10,186
688
–
(1,644)
–
P
= 84,241)

P
= 116,689
13,340
1,242
(463)
(1,644)
9
P
= 129,173

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Millions)

Nine Months Ended September 30
2015
2014
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Finance costs
Finance income
Equity in net earnings of associates/PDRs and joint
venture
Retirement benefit expense
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Recovery of impairment loss
Excess of carrying amount of obligation over the
buy-back price
Dividend income
Unrealized foreign exchange loss - net
Operating income before working capital changes
Decrease (increase) in:
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Increase in trade payables and other current liabilities
Net cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid
Unrealized gains in AFS investment
Interest paid
Interest received
Net cash from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to:
Property, plant and equipment and investment
properties
Exploration and evaluation assets
AFS Financial assets
Intangibles
Increase in:
Short-term investments
Other noncurrent assets
Dividends received from associates/PDRs
Proceed from sale of incidental income from testing
property, plant and equipment
Recovery of investment from impairment losses
Increase in derivative liabilities
Contribution to plan assets
Net cash used in investing activities

(Forward)

P
= 14,632

P
= 17,160

7,680
7,187
(1,151)

5,755
6,433
(1,234)

(1,426)
324
(36)
(1,519)

(1,111)
298
–
(2,040)

–
(14)
1,216
26,893

(118)
(19)
181
25,305

1,663
(2,198)
(5,828)
3,973
24,503
(2,451)
(1,803)
(18)
330
20,561

(1,212)
(269)
(1,318)
1,842
24,348
(2,398)
–
(18)
374
22,306

(20,720)
(200)
695
(199)

(21,959)
(397)
(507)
–

654
(4,581)
1,264

(46)
(2,954)
603

47
1,519
(165)
(20)
(21,706)

101
–
–
–
(25,159)

2-

Nine Months Ended September 30
2015
2014
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:
Availment of long-term debts - net of debt issuance
costs
Issuances of preferred shares by a subsidiary to
non-controlling shareholders
Payments of:
Borrowings from banks and other financial
institutions
Interest
Cash dividends
Dividends to non-controlling interests
Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Increase in other noncurrent liabilities
Net cash from financing activities
NET INCREASE(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

P
= 22,708

P
= 17,535

7,484

1,807

(21,055)
(5,793)
(1,066)
(3,121)
839
944
940

(6,903)
(5,147)
(1,016)
(1,129)
(487)
1,194
5,854

(205)

3,001

(1,303)

(24)

46,681

53,433

P
= 45,173

P
= 56,410

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information and Status of Operations
Lopez Holdings Corporation (Lopez Holdings or the Parent Company) was incorporated and
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on June 8, 1993. The
Parent Company is involved in the management and investment holdings of subsidiaries and
associates. The Parent Company has investments in power generation, manufacturing of electrical
and electronic components, property development, construction, telecommunications and broadcasting
and entertainment. The Parent Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “the
Group.”
The Parent Company is a 52.5%-owned subsidiary of Lopez, Inc. (Lopez), a Philippine entity and the
ultimate parent company.
The common shares of the Parent Company were listed in November 1993 and have been traded in
the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) since then.
The registered office address of the Parent Company is 4th Floor, Benpres Building, Exchange Road,
Pasig City 1605.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards (PFRS).
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost convention, except for
derivative financial instruments, financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (FVPL) and investments in quoted debt and equity securities which are measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, Lopez Holdings’ functional
and presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest million peso, except when otherwise
indicated.
The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous
period.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Lopez Holdings and its
subsidiaries as at December 31 each year.
Investment holdings in First Philippine Holdings Corporation (FPH) and subsidiaries (FPH Group)
are the subsidiaries as at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 with a percentage of ownership
interest and voting rights held by the Group at 45.9%
The Parent Company has a de facto control of FPH because of the widely dispersed interest of the
non-controlling shareholders compared with its 45.9% interest as at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014.

-2The following are the subsidiaries of FPH and FPH’s percentage of ownership in the following entities as at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

Subsidiaries
Power Generation
First Gen Corporation (First Gen)
First Gen Renewables, Inc.
FG Bukidnon Power Corp. (FG Bukidnon) 1
Unified Holdings Corporation (Unified)
FGP Corp. (FGP) 4, 7
AlliedGen Power Corporation
First NatGas Power Corporation (FNPC)
First Gen Luzon Power Corporation.
First Gen Visayas Hydro Power Corporation (FG Visayas)
First Gen Mindanao Hydro Power Corporation (FG Mindanao)
FGen Northern Mindanao Holdings, Inc. (FNMHI)9, 15
FGen Bubunawan Hydro Corporation (FG Bubunawan)13, 17
FGen Cabadbaran Hydro Corporation (FG Cabadbaran)14, 17
FGen Puyo Hydro Corporation (FG Puyo)
FG Mindanao Renewables Corp. (FMRC)
FGen Tagoloan Hydro Corporation (FG Tagoloan)
FGen Tumalaong Hydro Corporation (FG Tumalaong)
First Gen Ecopower Solutions, Inc. (formerly First Gen Geothermal Power Corporation)
First Gen Energy Solutions, Inc.
First Gen Premier Energy Corporation
First Gen Prime Energy Corporation
First Gen Visayas Energy Corporation
Northern Terracotta Power Corporation (Northern Terracotta)
Blue Vulcan Holdings Corporation2
Prime Meridian Powergen Corporation3
Bluespark Management Limited (Bluespark) [formerly Lisbon Star Management Limited]7
Goldsilk Holdings Corporation (Goldsilk) [formerly Lisbon Star Philippines Holdings, Inc.] 7
Dualcore Holdings, Inc. (Dualcore) [formerly BG Consolidated Holdings (Philippines), Inc.]7
Onecore Holdings, Inc. (Onecore) [formerly BG Philippines Holdings, Inc.] 7
First Gas Holdings Corporation (FGHC) 7
First Gas Power Corporation (FGPC) 6, 7
First Gas Pipeline Corporation6, 7
FG Land Corporation (FG Tumalaong)11, 16

Place of incorporation
and operation
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
British Virgin Islands
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

December 31, 2014
September 30, 2015
Percentage of ownership held by the Group
Direct
Indirect
Direct
Indirect
66.24
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

66.24
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

-3-

Subsidiaries
FGEN LNG Corporation (FGEN LNG) 18
First Gen LNG Holdings Corporation (LNG Holdings) 19
First Gen Meriian Holdings, Inc. (FGEN Meridian) 19
FGen Northern Power Corp. (FGEN Northern Power)
FGen Power Ventures, Inc. (FGEN Power Ventures)
FGen Casecnan Hydro Power Corp. (FGEN Casecnan)
FGen Power Holdings, Inc. (Power Holdings)
FGen Prime Holdings, Inc. (Prime Holdings)
FGen Eco Solutions Holdings, Inc. (FGESHI)
FGen Liquefied Natural Gas Holdings, Inc. (Liquefied Holdings)

FGen Reliable Energy Holdings, Inc. (FG Reliable Energy)
FGen Power Solutions, Inc. (FG Power Solutions)
FGen Vibrant Blue Sky Holdings, Inc. (FGVBSHI)
Prime Terracota Holdings Corporation (Prime Terracota) 20
First Gen Hydro Power Corporation (FG Hydro) 20,21
Red Vulcan Holdings Corporation (Red Vulcan)
Energy Development Corporation (EDC)
EDC Drillco Corporation
EDC Geothermal Corp (EGC)
Green Core Geothermal Inc. (GCGI)
Bac-Man Geothermal Inc. (BGI)
Unified Leyte Geothermal Energy Inc. (ULGEI)
Southern Negros Geothermal, Inc. (SNGI)
EDC Mindanao Geothermal, Inc. (EMGI)
Bac-Man Energy Development Corporation (BEDC)
Kayabon Geothermal Inc. (KGI)
Mount Apo Renewable, Inc. (MAREI)
EDC Wind Energy Holdings, Inc. (EWEHI)
EDC Burgos Wind Power Corporation (EBWPC)
EDC Pagudpud Wind Power Corporation (EPWPC)
EDC Bayog Burgos Power Corporation (EBBPC)
EDC Pagali Burgos Wind Power Corporation (EPBWPC)
EDC Corporation Chile Limitada
EDC Holdings International Limited (EHIL)
Energy Development Corporation Hong Kong Limited (EDC HKL)
EDC Chile Holdings SpA

Place of incorporation
and operation
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Santiago, Chile
British Virgin Islands
Santiago, Chile

December 31, 2014
September 30, 2015
Percentage of ownership held by the Group
Direct
Indirect
Direct
Indirect
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
45.00
–
45.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
–

100.00
100.00

–
–

100.00
100.00
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Subsidiaries
EDC Geotermica Chile SpA
EDC Peru Holdings S.A.C
EDC Geotermica Peru S.A.C
EDC Quellaapacheta
EDC Geotermica Del Sur S.A.C.
EDC Energia Azul S.A.C.
Geothermica Crucero Peru S.A.C.
EDC Energía Perú S.A.C.
Geothermica Tutupaca Norte Peru S.A.C.
EDC Energía Geotérmica S.A.C.
EDC Progreso Geotérmico Perú S.A.C.
Geothermica Loriscota Peru S.A.C.
EDC Energía Renovable Perú S.A.C.
PT EDC Indonesia
PT EDC Panas Bumi Indonesia
EDC Soluciones Sostenibles Ltd
EDC Energia Verde Chile SpA
EDC Energia de la Tierra SpA
EDC Desarollo Sostenible Ltd
EDC Energia Verde Peru SAC
EDC Bright Solar Energy Holdings, Inc. (EBSEHI)
EDC Bago Solar Power Corporation (EBSPC)
EDC Burgos Solar Corporation (EBSC)
Batangas Cogeneration Corporation (Batangas Cogen)30
Manufacturing
First Philippine Electric Corporation (First Philec)
First Sumiden Realty, Inc. (FSRI)38
First Electro Dynamics Corporation (FEDCOR)
First Philippine Power Systems, Inc. (FPPSI)
First Philec Manufacturing Technologies Corporation (FPMTC)
First PV Ventures Corporation
First Philec Nexolon Corporation 32
First Philec Solar Solutions Corporation31
Philippine Electric Corporation (PHILEC)
First Philec Solar Corporation
Cleantech Energy Holdings PTE, Ltd.

Place of incorporation
and operation
Santiago, Chile
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Lima, Peru
Jakarta Pusat, Indonesia
Jakarta Pusat, Indonesia
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

December 31, 2014
September 30, 2015
Percentage of ownership held by the Group
Direct
Indirect
Direct
Indirect
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
70.00
–
70.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
42.00
–
42.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
42.00
–
42.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
42.00
–
42.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
100.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
–
60.00
60.00
–
60.00
–
100.00
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
60.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
70.00
100.00
99.20
74.54
100.00

100.00
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
60.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
70.00
100.00
99.20
74.54
100.00
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Subsidiaries
Real Estate Development
First Philippine Realty Development Corporation (FPRDC)
First Philippine Realty Corporation (FPRC)
First Philippine Properties Corporation (FPPC)
First Philippine Development Corp. (FPDC)
FPH Land Venture, Inc. 36
FPHC Realty and Development Corporation (FPHC Realty)
Rockwell Land Corporation (Rockwell Land) (see Note 10)
Rockwell Integrated Property Services, Inc.
Rockwell Primaries Development Corporation (formerly, Rockwell Homes, Inc.)
ATR KimEng Land, Inc.
Rockwell Hotels & Leisure Management Corporation33
Stonewell Property Development Corporation
Primaries Properties Sales Specialist Inc.
Rockwell Leisure Club, Inc. (RLCI) (see Note 2) 34
Retailscapes, Inc.
First Philippine Industrial Park, Inc. (FPIP)
FPIP Property Developers and Management Corporation
FPIP Utilities, Inc
Grand Batangas Resort Development, Inc.
Terraprime, Inc. (Terraprime)
Grand Batangas Resort Development, Inc.37
Construction
First Balfour, Inc. (First Balfour)
Therma Prime Wells Services, Inc. (Therma Prime)
Others
First Philippine Utilities Corporation (FPUC, formerly First Philippine Union Fenosa, Inc.)
Securities Transfer Services, Inc.
FPH Capital Resources, Inc. (FCRI, formerly First Philippine Lending Corporation 39
FGHC International40
FPH Fund40
FPH Ventures40
First Philippine Industrial Corporation (FPIC)

Place of incorporation
and operation

December 31, 2014
September 30, 2015
Percentage of ownership held by the Group
Direct
Indirect
Direct
Indirect
100.00
100.00
100.00
–
–
98.00
86.80
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
70.00
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
100.00
100.00
–
–
100.00
100.00
60.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
69.00
100.00
–
100.00
100.00
85.00
100.00
85.00

–
–
–
–
–
–
70.00
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
100.00
100.00
–
–
100.00
100.00
60.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
69.00
100.00
–
100.00
100.00
85.00
100.00
85.00

Philippines
Philippines

100.00
–

–
100.00

100.00
–

–
100.00

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands
Philippines

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
–
60.00

–
–
–
–
–
100.00
–

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
–
60.00

–
–
–
–
–
100.00
–

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

100.00
100.00
100.00
–
–
98.00
86.80
–

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:




Power over an investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee)
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over the investee,
including:




the contractual arrangements with the other vote holders of the investee
rights arising from other contractual arrangements
the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
Lopez Holdings and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
All intra-group asset, liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. Any excess or deficit of consideration paid over the carrying amount of the
non-controlling interest is recognized as part of “Equity reserve” account in the equity attributable
to the equity holders of the Parent.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:








Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received
Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained
Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss or
retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities
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Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except
for the adoption of new and amended accounting standards.

The Group applied for the standards and amendments below, which are effective for annual
periods, beginning on or after January 1, 2014. This did not have significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.


Investment Entities (Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12,
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, and PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements) —
These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that
meet the definition of an investment entity under PFRS 10. The exception to consolidation
requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. The
amendments must be applied retrospectively, subject to certain transition relief.



Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments) — These amendments clarify the
meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and the criteria for nonsimultaneous settlement mechanisms of clearing houses to qualify for offsetting and are
applied retrospectively.



PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Amendments) — These amendments provide relief from
discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a derivative designated as a hedging
instrument meets certain criteria and retrospective application is required.



Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 21, Levies (IFRIC 21) — IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity
recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the
relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold,
the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be anticipated before the specified minimum
threshold is reached. Retrospective application is required for IFRIC 21.



Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle) — In the 2010 – 2012 annual
improvements cycle, seven amendments to six standards were issued, which included an
amendment to PFRS 13. The amendment to PFRS 13 is effective immediately and it clarifies
those short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can be measured at
invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial.



Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle) — In the 2011 – 2013 annual
improvements cycle, four amendments to four standards were issued, which included an
amendment to PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards–Firsttime Adoption of PFRS. The amendment to PFRS 1 is effective immediately. It clarifies that
an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a new standard that is not yet
mandatory, but permits early application, provided either standard is applied consistently
throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first PFRS financial statements.

Business Combination and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair
value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Transaction costs incurred are expensed and included in general and administrative
expenses.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and financial liabilities
assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
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economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognized in accordance with PAS 39, either in profit or
loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified
as equity, it will not be re-measured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In
instances where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of PAS 39, it is
measured in accordance with the appropriate PFRS.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognized for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the
aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all
of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to
measure the amounts recognized at the acquisition date. If this consideration is still lower than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in
consolidated statement of income.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU) or group of CGUs,
that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the acquiree are assigned to those units.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
Investments in Associates/PDRs and Joint Ventures
Investments in associates are initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is
adjusted to recognize changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since the
acquisition date. An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.
Investment in PDR is initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount of the investment in PDR is
adjusted to recognize the changes in the Group’s share in the net assets of the underlying ABSCBN Corporation (ABS-CBN) shares by virtue of the “pass- through” arrangement under the PDR
agreement.
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
Investments in joint ventures are initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount of the
investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture
since the acquisition date.
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The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.
Goodwill relating to these investees is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.
The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of
these investees. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI.
In addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the investees, the
Group recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and the investees are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the investee.
The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is
computed based on profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the
associate or joint venture.
The financial statements of the investees are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those
of the Group.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize
an impairment loss on its investments. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
investee and its carrying value, then recognizes the loss, if any, as ‘Equity in net earnings of
associates/PDRs and joint ventures’ in the consolidated statement of income.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognizes any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in
profit or loss.
Interest in Joint Operations
A joint arrangement is classified as a joint operation if the parties with joint control have rights to
the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the arrangement. For interest in joint operations, the
Group recognizes:






Assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
Liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
Revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
Share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The accounting and measurement for each of these items is in accordance with the PFRSs
applicable. The assets and liabilities are presented as “Current Assets of Joint Operation” and
“Current Liabilities of Joint Operation”, respectively, as these consist of individually immaterial
items.
Determination of Fair Value
The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives and non-financial assets such as
investment properties, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Also, fair values of financial
instruments measured at amortized cost are disclosed in Note 33.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:



In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:




Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the
hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
External valuers are involved for valuation of investment properties for disclosure.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of
the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
Current versus Non-current Classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based
on current/non-current classification. An asset as current when it is:
 Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle
 Held primarily for the purpose of trading
 Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period, or
 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for
at least twelve months after the reporting date
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All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when it is:
 Expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle
 Held primarily for the purpose of trading
 Due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting date, or
 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible with remaining maturities of three months or less and that
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
Short-term Investments
Short-term investments are short-term, highly liquid investments that are convertible to known
amounts of cash with original remaining of more than three months but less than one year from
dates of acquisition.
Financial Instruments
Date of Recognition. Financial instruments within the scope of PAS 39 are recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized
using the trade date accounting. Derivatives are also recognized on trade date basis.
Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments. All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair
value. The initial measurement of financial instruments includes transaction costs, except for
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL. The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets. Financial liabilities are classified as
either financial liabilities at FVPL or other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active
market. The Group determines the classification of financial assets on initial recognition and,
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every financial reporting date.
“Day 1” Difference. Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (“Day 1” difference) in the consolidated
statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset. In cases
where data used are not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value
is only recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the inputs become observable or
when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate
method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference amount.
Financial Assets and Liabilities at FVPL. Financial assets and liabilities at FVPL include financial
assets and liabilities held for trading purposes and financial assets and liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL.
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Financial assets and liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling and repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives are also classified under financial assets and liabilities at FVPL including embedded
derivatives.
Financial assets or liabilities may be designated by management on initial recognition as at FVPL
when the following criteria are met:




The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them
on a different basis;
The assets or liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, liabilities or both which are
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy; or
The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would
not be separately recorded.

Financial assets and liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated
statement of income except for derivative designated in an effective hedging relationship. Interest
earned or incurred is recorded in interest income or expense, respectively, while dividend income
is recorded when the right to receive payment has been established.
FPH’s investment in quoted shares of stock of Cambridge Silicon Radio plc (CSR, a U.K.-based
corporation) presented under “Other current assets” is classified as financial assets at FVPL as at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.
Classified under financial liabilities at FVPL are EDC’s foreign currency forward contracts and
foreign currency swap contracts as at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.
These derivatives were not designated as hedging instruments by the Group.
HTM Investments. HTM investments are quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities for which the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. Where the Group sells other than an insignificant amount
of HTM investments, the entire category is deemed tainted and reclassified as AFS financial
assets.
After initial measurement, these investments are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, less impairment in value. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral part of the effective
interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the
HTM investments are derecognized and impaired, as well as through the amortization process.
The effects of restatement on foreign currency-denominated HTM investments are also
recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
The Group has no HTM investments as at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.
Loans and Receivables. Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities and that are not quoted in an active market. They are not entered
into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified or designated as
AFS financial assets or financial assets at FVPL.
After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by
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taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral part of the
effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income
when the loans and receivables are derecognized and impaired as well as through the
amortization process.
Classified under loans and receivables are cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments,
trade and other receivables and restricted cash deposits.
AFS Financial Assets. AFS financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets which are
designated as such or do not qualify to be classified in any of the three preceding categories.
These are purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements
or changes in market conditions.
After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealized gains and losses being recognized as other comprehensive income (losses) until the
investments are derecognized or until the investments are determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported as other comprehensive income (losses) is
included in the consolidated statement of income.
AFS financial assets that do not have quoted market prices in an active market and whose fair
values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost.
Classified under AFS financial assets are quoted and unquoted investments in government
securities, proprietary membership shares and equity shares as at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014.
Other Financial Liabilities. Financial liabilities are classified in this category if these are not held
for trading or not designated as at FVPL upon the inception of the liability. These include liabilities
arising from operations or borrowings.
Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received, less
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any related issue costs, discount or premium. Gains and losses
are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities are derecognized, as
well as through the amortization process.
Debt issuance costs incurred in connection with availment of long-term debts and issuances of
bonds are deferred and amortized using the effective interest method over the term of the loans
and bonds. Debt issuance costs are included in the measurement of the related long-term debts
and bonds payable and are allocated accordingly to respective current and noncurrent portions.
Classified under other financial liabilities are loans payable, trade payables and other
current liabilities, bonds payable and long-term debts as at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014.
Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting
The Group enters into derivative and hedging transactions, primarily interest rate swaps, cross
currency swap and foreign currency forwards, as needed, for the sole purpose of managing the
risks that are associated with the Group’s borrowing activities or as required by the lenders in
certain cases.
Derivative financial instruments (including bifurcated embedded derivatives) are initially
recognized at fair value on the date on when the derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gain or loss arising from changes in
fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting is taken directly to the
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consolidated statement of income for the current year under “Mark-to-market gain on derivatives”
account.
For purposes of hedge accounting, derivatives can be designated either as cash flow hedges or
fair value hedges depending on the type of risk exposure it hedges.
At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which the Group opts to apply hedge accounting and the risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the
hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how
the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes
in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are
expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are
assessed on an ongoing basis that they actually have been highly effective throughout the
financial reporting periods for which they were designated.
The Group accounts for its interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges of the floating rate
exposure of its long-term debts. The Group also entered into cross currency swap and foreign
currency forwards accounted for as cash flow hedges for its Philippine peso-denominated loans
and Euro-denominated liabilities, respectively.
The Group has no derivatives that are designated as fair value hedges as at September 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014.
Cash Flow Hedges. Cash flow hedges are hedges of the exposure to variability of cash flows that
are attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset, liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction and could affect profit or loss. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument is recognized directly as other comprehensive income (loss) under the
“Cumulative translation adjustments” account in the consolidated statement of financial position
while the ineffective portion is recognized as “Mark-to-market gain on derivatives” account in the
consolidated statement of income.
Amounts recognized as other comprehensive income (loss) are transferred to the consolidated
statement of income when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when hedged
financial income or expense is recognized or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where the
hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts recognized as other
comprehensive income (loss) are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial
asset or liability.
If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income (loss) are transferred to the consolidated statement of income. If the
hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if
its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive
income (loss) remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. If the related transaction is not
expected to occur, the amount is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
The Group accounts for interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges of the floating rate
exposure of its long-term debts. The Group also entered into cross-currency swaps and foreign
currency forwards accounted for as cash flow hedges for its Philippine-peso denominated loans
and euro-denominated liabilities, respectively.
In the case of EDC, it has existing cross currency swaps to partially hedge its exposure to foreign
currency and interest rate risks on its floating rate loan that is benchmarked against U.S. London
Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR).
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Embedded Derivatives. An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined)
instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash
flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivatives.
The Group assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from host
contracts when the Group first becomes a party to the contract. Reassessment only occurs if
there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required.
Embedded derivatives are bifurcated from their host contracts, when the following conditions are
met:
a. The entire hybrid contracts (composed of both the host contract and the embedded derivative)
are not accounted at FVPL;
b. When their economic risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of their
respective host contracts; and
c. A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative.
Embedded derivatives that are bifurcated from the host contracts are accounted for either as
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVPL. Changes in fair values are included in the
consolidated statement of income.
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial Asset. A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of financial assets) is derecognized when:




The rights to receive cash flows from the asset expire;
The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred
nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into
a “pass-through” arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of
a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
Financial Liability. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income.
Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each financial reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred
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“loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective
evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where
observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost. For loans and receivables carried at amortized cost,
the Group first assesses whether an objective evidence of impairment (such as the probability of
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the borrower) exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortized cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit
losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. If there is no objective evidence that impairment exists for individually assessed
financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment. Those characteristics are relevant to the
estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability
to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to
be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment for impairment.
The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the use of allowance account and the
amount of loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Interest income continues
to be recognized based on the original effective interest rate of the asset. If in case the receivable
is proven to have no realistic prospect of future recovery, any allowance provided for such
receivable is written off against the carrying value of the impaired receivable.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized in the consolidated statement of income, to the extent that the carrying value of the
asset does not exceed its amortized cost at reversal date.
AFS Financial Assets. For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each financial reporting
date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as AFS financial assets, this would include a
significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the investments below its cost. “Significant” is to be
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. When there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss (measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in consolidated
statement of income) is removed from other comprehensive income and recognized in the
consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed in
the consolidated statement of income. Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized
directly in other comprehensive income.
In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets, impairment is assessed based
on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost. Future interest income is based
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring impairment loss. If, in a subsequent year, the fair
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value of a debt instrument increases and that increase can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the consolidated statement of income, the
impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement of income.
Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs incurred in bringing
each item of inventory to its present location and conditions are accounted for as follows:
Land and development costs

–

Property acquired or being constructed for sale
in the ordinary course of business, rather than to
be held for rental or capital appreciation, is held
as inventory.
Cost includes land cost, amounts paid to
contractors for construction and borrowing costs,
planning and design costs, costs of site
preparation, professional fees, property transfer
taxes, construction overheads and other related
costs.

Fuel inventories

–

Cost includes the invoice amount, net of trade
and cash discounts. Costs is calculated using
the weighted average method.

Finished goods and work in-process

–

Determined on the weighted average basis; cost
includes materials and labor and a proportion of
manufacturing overhead costs based on normal
operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs

Raw materials and spare parts and
supplies

–

Purchase cost based on moving average
method

The net realizable value is determined as follows:
Finished goods

–

Estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs necessary to
make the sale

Land development costs and work- inprocess

–

Selling price in the ordinary course of the
business, based on market prices at the
reporting date, less estimated specifically
identifiable costs of completion and the
estimated costs of sale

Fuel inventories

–

Fuel cost charged to Manila Electric Company
(Meralco), under the respective Power
Purchase Agreements (PPAs) of FGPC and
FGP with Meralco, which is based on weighted
average cost of actual fuel consumed

−

Invoice amount, net of trade and cash discounts
for EDC
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Raw materials, spare parts and supplies –

Current replacement cost

Other Current Assets
Advances to Contractors and Suppliers. Advances to contractors and suppliers represent
advance payments on services to be incurred in connection with the Group’s operations and
suppliers. These are capitalized to projects under “Land and development costs” account in the
consolidated statement of financial position, upon actual receipt of services, which is normally
within 12 months or within the normal operating cycle. These are considered as nonfinancial
instruments as these will be applied against future billings from contractors normally within one
year.
Prepayments. Prepayments are expenses paid in advance and recorded as asset before these
are utilized. The prepaid expenses are apportioned over the period covered by the payment and
charged to the appropriate accounts in the consolidated statement of income when incurred.
Prepaid Taxes. Prepaid taxes are carried at cost less any impairment in value. Prepaid taxes
consist mainly of tax credits that can be used by the Group in the future. Tax credits represent
unapplied certificates for claims from input value-added tax (VAT) credits received from the
Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) and the Bureau of Customs (BOC). Such tax credits may be
used for payment of internal revenue taxes or customs duties.
Input VAT. Input VAT represents VAT imposed on the Group by its suppliers and contractors for
the acquisition of goods and services required under Philippine taxation laws and regulations.
Input VAT is recognized as an asset and will be used to offset against the Group’s current output
VAT liabilities and any excess will be claimed as tax credits. Input VAT is stated at its recoverable
amount.
Deferred input VAT related to the unpaid portion of the acquisition cost of the asset expected to be
settled beyond the succeeding year is recognized under “Other noncurrent assets” account in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
Creditable Withholding Taxes (CWT). CWT represents the amount withheld by the Group’s
customers in relation to its rent income. These are recognized upon collection of the related
billings and are utilized as tax credits against income tax due as allowed by the Philippine taxation
laws and regulations. CWT is stated at its estimated NRV.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, except land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation,
amortization and any impairment in value. Land is carried at cost less any impairment in value.
The initial cost of property, plant and equipment, consist of its purchase price including import
duties, borrowing costs (during the construction period) and other costs directly attributable in
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Cost also includes the
cost of replacing the part of such property, plant and equipment when the recognition criteria are
met and the present value of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site.
The income generated wholly and necessarily as a result of the process of bringing the asset into
the location and condition for its intended use (e.g., net proceeds from selling any items produced
while testing whether the asset is functioning properly) is credited to the cost of the asset. When
the incidental operations are not necessary to bring an item to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, the income
and related expenses of incidental operations are not offset against the cost of the asset but are
recognized in profit or loss and included in their respective classifications of income and expense.
Expenditures incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, are normally charged to current operations in the period the costs are
incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of
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property, plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the
expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of property, plant and equipment.
The Group divided the power plants into significant parts. Each part of an item of property, plant
and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated
separately. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives of the assets:
Asset Type
Power plants, buildings, other structures and
leasehold improvements
Production wells
Fluid collection and recycling system (FCRS)
Transportation equipment
Exploration, machinery and equipment

Number of Years
5 to 30 years or lease term,
whichever is shorter
10-40
13-20
3 to 20 years
2 to 25 years

The useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed at each financial
reporting date to ensure that the useful lives and method of depreciation and amortization are
consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant and
equipment.
Depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment begins when it becomes available for
use, i.e., when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Depreciation ceases at the earlier of the date that the item is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in
accordance with PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, and the
date the asset is derecognized. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lease term or the
economic life of the related asset, whichever is shorter.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
assets (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of
the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of income in the year the asset is
derecognized.
Property, plant and equipment also include the estimated rehabilitation and restoration costs of
EDC’s steam fields and power plants located in the contract areas for which EDC is constructively
liable. These costs are included under “FCRS and production wells” account. It also includes the
asset preservation obligation of First Philippine Industrial Corporation (FPIC) under “Exploration,
machinery and equipment” account. The asset preservation obligations recognized represent the
best estimate of the expenditures required to preserve the pipeline at the end of their useful lives
and to preserve the property and equipment of FPIC.
Construction in-progress represents properties under construction and includes cost of
construction, equipment and other direct costs. Construction in-progress and major spares and
surplus assets available for use are stated at cost and is not depreciated until such time that the
assets are put into operational use.
Investment Properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties, except land, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Land is carried at cost less any impairment in value.
Cost also includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property if the recognition
criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.
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Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
5 to 20 years. The investment properties’ estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, as appropriate, at each financial reporting date.
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its
disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year of de-recognition.
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. Transfers
into and from investment property do not change the carrying amount of the property transferred.
Intangible Assets (Concession Rights for Contracts Acquired, Water Rights, Pipeline Rights,
and Other Intangible Assets)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as of the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization
and any impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized
development costs, are not capitalized. Instead, related expenditures are reflected in the
consolidated statement of income in the year the expenditure is incurred.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortization period and method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is
reviewed at least each financial reporting date.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the said intangible asset are accounted for by changing the amortization
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually, either individually
or at the cash generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortized. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is made prospectively.
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized.
Concession Rights for Contracts Acquired
The concession rights for contracts acquired have been valued based on the expected future cash
flows using the Multiple Excess Earnings Method (MEEM) as of the date of acquisition. MEEM is
the most commonly used approach in valuing customer-related assets, although it may be used to
value other intangible assets as well. The asset value is estimated as the sum of the discounted
future excess earnings attributable to the asset over the remaining project period.
Water Rights
The cost of water rights of First Gen Hydro Power Corporation (FG Hydro) is measured on initial
recognition at cost. Following initial recognition of the water rights, the cost model is applied
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Water rights are amortized using the straight-line method over 25 years,
which is the term of the agreement with the National Irrigation Administration (NIA).
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Pipeline Rights
Pipeline rights represent the construction cost of the natural gas pipeline facility connecting the
natural gas supplier’s refinery to FGP’s power plant including incidental transfer costs incurred in
connection with the transfer of ownership of the pipeline facility to the natural gas supplier. The
cost of pipeline rights is amortized using the straight-line method over 22 years, which is the term
of the Gas Sale and Purchase Agreements (GSPA).
Wind Energy Project Development Costs
Project development costs are expensed as incurred until management determines that the
project is technically, commercially and financially viable, at which time, project development costs
are capitalized. Project viability generally occurs in tandem with management’s determination that
a project should be classified as an advanced project, such as when favorable results of a system
impact study are received, interconnected agreements are obtained and project financing is in
place. Following the initial recognition of the project development cost as an asset, the cost model
is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when the development of wind
farm assets is complete and the wind farm asset is available for use. It is amortized using the
straight-line method over the period of expected future benefit. During the period in which the
asset is not-yet-available-for-use, the project development costs are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
Exploration and Evaluation Assets
EDC follows the full cost method of accounting for its exploration costs determined on the basis of
each service contract area. Under this method, all exploration costs relating to each service
contract are accumulated and deferred under the “Exploration and evaluation assets” account
(included under “Other noncurrent assets” account) in the consolidated statement of financial
position pending the determination of whether the wells has proved reserves. Capitalized
expenditures include costs of license acquisition, technical services and studies, exploration
drilling and testing, and appropriate technical and administrative expenses. General overhead or
costs incurred prior to having obtained the legal rights to explore an area are recognized as
expense in the consolidated statement of income when incurred.
If tests conducted on the drilled exploratory wells reveal that these wells cannot produce proved
reserves, the capitalized costs are charged to expense except when management decides to use
the unproductive wells, for recycling or waste disposal. Once the technical feasibility and
commercial viability of the project to produce proved reserves are established, the exploration and
evaluation assets shall be reclassified to property, plant and equipment.
Prepaid Major Spare Parts
Prepaid major spare parts (included in the “Other noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated
statement of financial position) is stated at cost less any impairment in value. Prepaid major spare
parts pertain to advance payments made to Siemens Power Operations, Inc. (SPOI) for major
spare parts that will be replaced during the schedule maintenance outage of power plants.
Impairment of Non-financial Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Properties, Concession Rights for Contracts Acquired,
Water Rights, Pipeline Rights, Other Intangible Assets, Exploration and Evaluation Assets,
Prepaid Major Spare Parts and Input VAT claims for refund/tax credits. At each financial reporting
date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that its non-financial assets may be
impaired. When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an
asset is required, the Group makes a formal estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which it belongs.
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Where the carrying amount of an asset (or CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or
CGU) is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or cash-generating unit). An impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income in the year in which it arises.
An assessment is made at each financial reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the assets or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.
Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
Goodwill. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually regardless whether impairment
indicators are present or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired.
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated, an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of
income.
Impairment loss relating to goodwill cannot be reversed for subsequent increases in its
recoverable amount in future periods. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill
at December 31 of each year.
Investments in Associates/PDRs and a Joint Venture. The Group determines whether it is
necessary to recognize an impairment loss on its investments in associates/PDRs and a joint
venture. The Group determines at each financial reporting date whether there is any objective
evidence that the investments are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as being the difference between the recoverable value of the associate or joint
venture and the carrying amount of investment and recognizes the amount of impairment loss in
the consolidated statement of income.
Discontinued Operations
The Group classifies disposal groups as discontinued operations if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sale rather than through continuing use. Such disposal groups are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
The criteria for discontued operations is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable
and the disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must
be committed to the sale expected within one year from the date of the classification.
Property, plant and equipment are not depreciated once classified as part of discontinued
operations.
Assets and liabilities classified of disposal groups classified as discontinued operations are
presented separately as current items in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has
been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and:
 Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations
 Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations
 Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale
Discontinued operations are excluded from net income from continuing operations and are
presented as a single amount under “Net loss from discontinued operations” account in the
consolidated statement of income.
Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets until such time that the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale, which necessarily takes a substantial period of time. Capitalization of
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and
expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the
asset is substantially ready for its intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement
of income. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the year they occur.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive): (a) as
a result of a past event, (b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and (c) a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of the provision to be reimbursed,
for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is
recognized in the consolidated statement of income, net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the
time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized under the “Finance costs” account in the
consolidated statement of income.
The Group recognized provisions arising from legal and/or constructive obligation associated with
the cost of dismantling and removing an item of property, plant and equipment and restoring the
site where it is located. The obligation occurs either when the asset is acquired or as a
consequence of using the asset for the purpose of generating electricity during a particular year.
Dismantling costs are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using
estimated cash flows. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the
risks specific to the dismantling liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred
and recognized in the consolidated statement of income under the “Finance costs” account. The
estimated future costs of dismantling are reviewed annually and adjusted, as appropriate.
Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted
from the cost of the asset.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed
in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed
in the notes to consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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Common Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital in Excess of Par Value
Common Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued. Incremental costs incurred
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as deduction from
proceeds, net of tax. Proceeds and/or fair value of considerations received in excess of par value
are recognized as additional paid-in capital in excess of par value.
Retained Earnings
The amount included in retained earnings includes net income attributable to the Group’s equity
holders and reduced by dividends on capital stock. Dividends are recognized as a liability and
deducted from retained earnings when they are declared. Dividends for the year that are
approved after the financial reporting date are dealt with as an event after the financial reporting
date.
Dividends on Preferred and Common Stocks
FPH Group may pay dividends in cash, property or by the issuance of shares of stock. Cash
dividends are subject to the approval of the BOD, while property and stock dividends are subject
to approval by the BOD, at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock of the shareholders at
a shareholders’ meeting called for such purpose (for stock dividends only), and by the Philippine
SEC. FPH Group may declare dividends only out of its unrestricted retained earnings.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably,
regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment
and excluding taxes or duty. The Group has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue
arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements, has pricing latitude
and is also exposed to inventory and credit risks.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:
Sale of Electricity
Revenue from sale of electricity (in the case FGP and FGPC) is based on the respective PPAs of
FGP and FGPC. The PPAs qualify as leases on the basis that FGP and FGPC sell all of its output
to Meralco. These agreements call for a take-or-pay arrangement where payment is made
principally on the basis of the availability of the power plants and not on actual deliveries of
electricity generated. These arrangements are determined to be operating leases as the
significant portion of the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are retained by FGP and
FGPC.
Revenue from sale of electricity is composed of fixed capacity fees, fixed and variable operating
and maintenance fees, fuel, wheeling and pipeline charges, and supplemental fees. The portion
related to the fixed capacity fees is considered as operating lease component and the same fees
are recognized on a straight-line basis, based on the actual Net Dependable Capacity (NDC)
tested or proven, over the terms of the respective PPAs. Variable operating and maintenance
fees, fuel, wheeling and pipeline charges and supplemental fees are recognized monthly based on
the actual energy delivered.
In the case of EDC, GCGI and BGI, revenues from sale of electricity using geothermal energy is
consummated whenever the electricity generated by these companies is transmitted through the
transmission line designated by the buyer, for a consideration. Revenue from sale of electricity is
based on sales price. Sale of electricity using hydroelectric (in the case of FG Hydro) and
geothermal power (in the case of GCGI and BGI) is composed of generation fees from spot sales
to the Wholesale Electricity Spot Market (WESM) and the Power Supply Agreement (PSA) with
various electric companies and is recognized monthly based on the actual energy delivered.
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Meanwhile, revenue from sale of electricity through ancillary services to the National Grid
Corporation of the Philippines (NGCP) is recognized monthly based on the capacity scheduled
and/or dispatched and provided.
Real Estate
Sale of Condominium Units. The Group assesses whether it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group when the sales prices are collectible. Collectibility of the sales price
is demonstrated by the buyer’s commitment to pay, which in turn is supported by substantial initial
and continuing investments that give the buyer a stake in the property sufficient that the risk of
loss through default motivates the buyer to honor its obligation to the seller. Collectibility is also
assessed by considering factors such as the credit standing of the buyer, age and location of the
property.
Revenue from sales of completed real estate projects is accounted for using the full accrual
method. In accordance with Philippine Interpretation Committee Q&A No. 2006-01, the
percentage-of-completion method is used to recognize income from sales of projects where the
Group has material obligations under the sales contract to complete the project after the property
is sold, the equitable interest has been transferred to the buyer, construction is beyond preliminary
stage (i.e., engineering and design work, execution of construction contracts, site clearance and
preparation, excavation, and completion of the building foundation are finished), and the costs
incurred or to be incurred can be reliably measured. Under this method, revenue is recognized as
the related obligations are fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the estimated completion
of a physical proportion of the contract work.
If any of the criteria under the full accrual or percentage-of-completion method is not met, the
deposit method is applied until all the conditions for recording a sale are met. Pending recognition
of sale, cash received from buyers is recognized as deposits from pre-selling of condominium
units.
Any excess of collections over the recognized receivables are presented as part of “Trade and
other payables” account in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Cost of real estate sold is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method applied.
Cost of condominium units sold before completion of the development is determined on the basis
of the acquisition cost of the land plus its full development costs, which include estimated costs for
future development works, as determined by in-house technical staff.
The cost of inventory recognized in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to the
specific costs incurred on the property, allocated to saleable area based on relative size and takes
into account the percentage of completion used for revenue recognition purposes.
Contract costs include all direct materials and labor costs and those direct costs related to contract
performance. Expected losses on contracts are recognized immediately when it is probable that
the total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue. Changes in contract performance,
contract conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty
provisions, and final contract settlements which may result in revisions to estimated costs and
gross margins are recognized in the year in which the changes are determined.
Other costs incurred during the pre-selling stage to sell real estate are capitalized as prepaid
costs, and shown as part of prepaid expenses under “Other current assets” account in the
consolidated statement of financial position, if they are directly associated with and their recovery
is reasonably expected from the sale of real estate that are initially being accounted for as
deposits. Capitalized selling costs shall be charged to expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognized as earned.
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Lease. Lease income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms or based on the terms of the lease, as applicable.
Cinema, Mall and Other Revenues. Revenue is recognized when services are rendered.
Sale of Merchandise
Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods.
Contracts and Services
Revenue from Construction Contracts. Revenue is recognized based on the percentage of
completion method of accounting using surveys of work performed by professionally-qualified
surveyors to measure the stage of completion.
Contract costs include all direct materials, labor costs and indirect costs related to contract
performance. Changes in job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability including
those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, which may result in
revisions to estimated costs and gross margins, are recognized in the year in which the revisions
are determined.
Claims for additional contract revenues are recognized when negotiations have reached an
advanced stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim; and the amount
that will be accepted by the customer can be measured reliably. Variation orders are included in
contract revenue when it is probable that the customer will approve the variation and the amount
of revenue arising from the variation can be measured reliably.
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of amounts billed on uncompleted contracts accounted
for under the percentage of completion method are classified as “Costs and estimated earnings in
excess of billings on uncompleted contracts” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Pipeline Services. Revenues from pipeline services are recognized when services are rendered
using base charges. Adjustments of billings for pipeline services over and above the base
charges are recorded at the time of settlement with shippers.
Equity in Net Earnings of Associates/PDRs and Joint Ventures
The Group recognizes its share in the net income of associates/PDRs and joint ventures
proportionate to the equity in the economic shares of such associates/PDRs and joint ventures, in
accordance with the equity method. If an associate/PDR or a joint venture has outstanding
cumulative preferred shares that are held by parties other than the investor and are classified as
equity, the Group computes its share in profits or losses after adjusting for the dividends on such
shares, whether or not the dividends have been declared.
Interest Income
Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues (using the effective interest rate, which is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset), taking into account the effective yield
on the asset.
Dividends
Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established.
Expense Recognition
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows
or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in equity, other than those
relating to distributions to equity participants, and are recognized when these are incurred.
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Cost of Sale of Electricity
These include expenses incurred by the departments directly responsible for the generation of
revenues from steam, electricity and performance of drilling services (i.e., Plant Operations,
Production, Maintenance, Transmission and Dispatch, Wells Drilling and Maintenance
Department) at operating project locations in the case of EDC. This account also includes the
costs incurred by FGPC and FGP, particularly fuel cost, power plant operations and maintenance,
and depreciation and amortization, which are necessary expenses incurred to generate the
revenues from sale of electricity. These are expensed when incurred.
Foreign Currency Translations
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is Lopez Holdings’
functional and presentation currency. All subsidiaries and associates/PDRs evaluate their primary
economic and operating environment and, determine their functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are initially measured using that functional currency.
Transactions and Balances. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the
functional currency rate prevailing on the period of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency are re-translated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange
prevailing at the financial reporting date.
All differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Nonmonetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.
Group Companies. The financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries and
associates/PDRs with functional currency other than the Philippine peso are translated to
Philippine peso as follows:




Assets and liabilities using the spot rate of exchange prevailing at the financial reporting date;
Components of equity using historical exchange rates; and
Income and expenses using the monthly weighted average exchange rate.

The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognized as other comprehensive
income (loss). Upon disposal of any of these subsidiaries and associates, the deferred cumulative
amount recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) relating to that particular subsidiary or
associate will be recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance
of the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the
asset.
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:
a. there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
or
b. a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or
extension was initially included in the lease term;
c. there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified
asset; or
d. there is a substantial change to the asset.
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Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting will commence or cease from the date when
the change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and
at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases. In cases where the Group acts as a lessee, operating lease
payments are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. In cases where the Group is a lessor, the initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognized over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognized as revenue in the year in which they are earned.
Retirement Costs
Lopez Holdings and certain of its subsidiaries have distinct funded, noncontributory defined benefit
retirement plans. The plans cover all permanent employees, each administered by their
respective retirement committee.
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any),
adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling
is the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.
The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.
Defined benefit costs comprise the following:
a. Service cost
b. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on nonroutine settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized
when plan amendment or curtailment occurs. These amounts are calculated periodically by
independent qualified actuaries.
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by
applying the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in
profit or loss.
Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in
the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements
are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance
policies. Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly
to the Group. Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information. When no market
price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash
flows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the
maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected
period until the settlement of the related obligations). If the fair value of the plan assets is higher
than the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the measurement of the resulting defined
benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds
from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.
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The Group’s right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined
benefit obligation is recognized as a separate asset at fair value when and only when
reimbursement is virtually certain.
Termination Benefit
Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in exchange for the termination of an
employee’s employment as a result of either an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s
employment before the normal retirement date or an employee’s decision to accept an offer of
benefits in exchange for the termination of employment.
A liability and expense for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the entity recognizes related restructuring
costs. Initial recognition and subsequent changes to termination benefits are measured in
accordance with the nature of the employee benefit, as either post-employment benefits, shortterm employee benefits, or other long-term employee benefits.
Employee Leave Entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized as a liability when they are accrued to the
employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting period is recognized for services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Share-based Payment Transactions
Certain employees (including senior executives) of Lopez Holdings and FPH group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions. Under such circumstance, the
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled
transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value
of the stock options at the date the option is granted. The fair value is determined using the BlackScholes-Merton Option Pricing Model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken
of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Lopez
Holdings (“market conditions”), if applicable.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on
the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”).
The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each financial reporting date
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest at that date. The charge
or credit to the consolidated statement of income for a period represents the movement in
cumulative expense recognized as of the beginning and end of that year.
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting
is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the
expense as if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An
additional expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled with payment, it is treated as if it had vested on the
date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the entity or the
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counterparty not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were modifications of the original award, as described in the foregoing.
Income Taxes
Current Tax. Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current year are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authority. The tax rates and tax
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted as at the
financial reporting date.
Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary
differences as at the financial reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:


Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and



In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates/PDRs and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular income tax
and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of
unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. Deferred income tax,
however, is not recognized:


where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and



in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:


Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and



In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.
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Earnings Per Share (EPS) Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Company for the year by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
year, with retroactive adjustments for any stock dividends and stock split.
For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net income attributable to the equity
holders of the Parent Company and the weighted average number of shares outstanding are
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares from the conversion of Perpetual
Convertible Bonds and outstanding stock options under the Parent Company’s Executive Stock
Option Plan (ESOP) and Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). The number of common shares
is the weighted average number of common shares plus the weighted average number of
common shares which would be issued upon the conversion of all the dilutive potential common
shares into common shares. For calculation purposes, Perpetual Convertible Bonds are deemed
to have been converted into common shares at the date of issuance of the convertible bonds.
Where the EPS effect of the assumed exercise of outstanding options has anti-dilutive effect,
diluted EPS is presented the same as basic EPS with a disclosure that the effect of the exercise of
the instruments is anti-dilutive.
Segment Reporting
For purposes of management reporting, the Group is organized and managed separately
according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a
strategic business unit. Such business segments are the bases upon which the Group reports its
primary segment information.
Financial information on business segments is presented in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group has one geographical segment and derives principally all its revenues
from domestic operations.
Events After the Financial Reporting Date
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial position at the
financial reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated
financial statements when material.

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the Group’s management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the
financial reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that require a material adjustments to the carrying amounts of the assets and
liabilities affected in future years.
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated
financial statements.
Judgments
Asset Acquisition. In 2014, Rockwell Land acquired 60% ownership interest in ATR KimEng Land,
Inc. (ATRKE Land). Management considered the substance of the assets and activities of the
acquired entity and assessed that the acquisition of a subsidiary does not represent a business,
but rather an acquisition of the undeveloped land, the remaining asset of the subsidiary at the date
of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based
upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognized.
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The acquisition cost of 60% interest in ATRKE Land substantially allocated to the land amounted
to P
= 561.6 million.
Material Partly-owned Subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements include additional
information about subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are material to the Group
(see Note 5). Management determined that First Gen Corporation and Rockwell Land as material
partly-owned subsidiaries based on the following considerations:







The carrying amount of the non-controlling interest attributable to the subsidiary relative to the
net equity of the Group;
The profit or loss or other comprehensive income of the subsidiary attributable to the noncontrolling interest relative to the Group’s net income or other comprehensive income for the
year;
Dividends paid by the subsidiary to non-controlling interest relative to the cash flows of the
Group;
Total revenues and total expenses included in the Group’s consolidated statement of income
relative to the Group’s total revenues and total expenses for the year;
Assets and liabilities of the subsidiary relative to the total assets and total liabilities of the
Group; and,
Nature of the activities and their significance to the Group’s activities.

Determination of Functional Currency. The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Philippine peso, which is the Parent Company’s functional currency. Each entity or subsidiary in
the Group determines its own functional currency and measures items included in their financial
statements using that functional currency.
The Philippine peso is the currency of the primary economic environment in which Lopez Holdings
and all other subsidiaries and associates, except for the following:
Subsidiary
First Gen Corporation
First Sumiden Realty Inc.
BPPC
First Philippine Solar Corp.
FGHC International
FPH Fund
First PV
First Philippine Nexolon Corp.
EHIL
EDC HKL
EDC Chile Holdings SPA
EDC Geotermica Chile
EDC Chile Limitada
EDC Peru Holdings S.A.C.
EDC Geotermica Peru S.A.C.
EDC Quellaapacheta
PT EDC Indonesia
PT EDC Panas Bumi Indonesia

Functional Currency
United States dollar
- do - do - do - do - do - do - do - do Hong Kong dollar
Chilean peso
- do - do Peruvian nuevo sol
- do - do Indonesian rupiah
- do -

Deferred Revenue on Stored Energy. Under its addendum agreements with National Power
Corporation (NPC), the EDC has a commitment to NPC with respect to certain volume of stored
energy that NPC may lift for a specified period, provided that EDC is able to generate such energy
over and above the nominated energy for each given year in accordance with the related PPAs.
EDC has made a judgment based on historical information that the probability of future liftings by
NPC from the stored energy is remote and accordingly has not deferred any portion of the
collected revenues.
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Operating Lease Commitments - the Group as Lessor. The respective PPAs of FGP and FGPC
qualify as leases on the basis that FGP and FGPC sell all of their output to Meralco. These
agreements call for a take-or-pay arrangement where payment is made principally on the basis of
the availability of the power plants and not on actual deliveries of electricity generated. These
lease arrangements are determined to be operating leases as the significant portion of the risks
and benefits of ownership of the assets are retained by FGP and FGPC. Accordingly, the power
plant assets are recorded as part of property, plant and equipment and the fixed capacity fees
billed to Meralco are recorded as operating revenues on straight-line basis over the applicable
terms of the PPAs.
In the case of EDC, its PPAs and Steam Sales Agreements (SSAs) qualify as a lease on the basis
that EDC sells all its outputs to NPC/Power Sector Assets and Liabilities Management Corporation
(PSALM) and, in the case of the SSAs, the agreement calls for a take-or-pay arrangement where
payment is made principally on the basis of the availability of the steam field facilities and not on
actual steam deliveries. This type of arrangement is determined to be an operating lease where a
significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are retained by EDC since it
does not include transfer of EDC’s assets. Accordingly, the steam field facilities and power plant
assets are recorded as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment and the capacity fees
billed to NPC/PSALM are recorded as operating revenue based on the terms of the PPAs and
SSAs.
In connection with the installation of Burgos Wind Project’s wind turbines and related transmission
towers, EDC entered into uniform land lease agreements and contracts of easement of right of
way, respectively, with various private landowners. The term of the land lease agreement starts
from the execution date of the contract and ends after 25 years from the commercial operations of
the Burgos Wind Project. The contract of easement of right of way on the other hand, creates a
perpetual easement over the subject property. Both the land lease agreement and contracts of
easement of right of way were classified as operating leases. All payments made in connection
with the agreements as part of “Prepaid expense”. Prepaid lease will be amortized on a straightline basis over the lease term, whereas prepaid rights of way will be amortized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the Wind Energy Service Contract (WESC), including the extension based
on management’s judgment of probability of extension. Amortizations of both the prepaid lease
and prepaid rights of way during the construction period were capitalized to “Construction in
progress” account, and expensed after once it becomes available for use.
The Group has also entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio.
The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties,
which are leased out under operating lease arrangements.
Assessing Control and Significant Influence
a. Investment in FPH


The Parent Company has assessed that it has de facto control of FPH because of the
widely dispersed interest of the non-controlling shareholders compared with its 45.90%
interest in FPH as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.



Upon adoption of PFRS 10 in 2013, FPH reassessed and determined that First Gen has
control of Prime Terracota, hence, retrospectively consolidated the financial statements of
Prime Terracota Group (through First Gen) in the consolidated financial statements. First
Gen has control over Prime Terracota due to its ability to direct the relevant activities of
Prime Terracota and Red Vulcan and its exposure to variability in returns. First Gen is the
single largest holder of voting rights at 45%, while the rest of the stockholders are widely
dispersed. In 2014, the voting rights of First Gen increased to 73% due to acquisition of
voting preferred shares held by non-controlling shareholders.
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b. Investment in ABS-CBN
The Parent Company has determined that it does not control ABS-CBN. The Parent
Company’s conversion rights related to Lopez PDRs has been assessed to be not substantive
as defined under PFRS 10 because of existing regulatory restrictions on its exercisability.
However, the economic rights over ABS-CBN shares still remain with the Parent Company by
virtue of the “pass through” arrangement under the PDRs. Thus, the carrying amount of the
investment in PDR is still adjusted to recognize the changes in the Parent Company’s share in
the net assets of the underlying ABS-CBN shares by virtue of the “pass-through” arrangement
under the PDR agreement.
c.

Investment in Bayantel
The Parent Company has an existing VTA with Lopez, where the Parent Company assigned
the voting rights in Bayantel to Lopez. The VTA also provides that the Parent Company will
only absorb losses up to its investments and advances. Based on the VTA and using the
guidance set forth under PFRS 10, the control over Bayantel still rests with Lopez, thus, Lopez
continues to consolidate Bayantel in its consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the
Parent Company classifies its investment in Bayantel as investment in an associate.

Interest in Joint Arrangements. The Group has assessed that it has joint control in its joint
arrangements and has assessed whether parties have rights to the net assets of the arrangement
or to the specific assets. Under the Joint Venture Agreement, each party’s share in any proceeds,
profits, losses, and other economic value derived under the Venture as well as any economic
benefits and losses derived from the utilization of the access ways and open spaces of the joint
venture property shall be proportional to the respective financial contributions made by each party.
Transfers of Investment Properties. The Group has made transfers to investment properties after
determining that there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of owner-occupation,
commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of construction or development.
Transfers are also made from investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in
use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a
view to sale. These transfers are recorded using the carrying amount of the investment properties
at the date of change in use.
In 2014, transfers from (to) investment properties to (from) property, plant and equipment and
inventories amounted to P
= 11 million and P
= 73 million, respectively.
Discontinued Operations. In 2012, First PV and FPNC initiated arbitration proceedings against
Nexolon Co Ltd (Nexolon) with the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber
of Commerce (ICC). The arbitral tribunal rendered the final award in October 2014 which required
Nexolon to pay damages and pre-award interest to FPNC in the amount of $24.8 million and a put
option price to First PV in the amount of P
= 2.09 million. To date, no payments have been made on
the award by Nexolon which is reported to be in rehabilitation proceedings. The Companies have
filed their appropriate claims in Korean rehabilitiation courts. At the same time, to mitigate losses,
FPNC is seeking alternatives to realize value from the remaining assets of FPNC.
In 2012, First Philippine Electric Corporation (First Philec) and FPSC initiated arbitration
proceedings against SunPower Philippines Manufacturing Limited (SPML) with the ICC. In
January 2015, a partial award was granted by the arbitral tribunal in favor of First Philec and
FPSC which required SPML to pay FPSC a net sum of $25.2 million as compensation for wafers
not taken by SPML and unpaid services, and First Philec the price of $30.30 million as payment
for First Philec’s shares in FPSC. The transfer of First Philippine Electric Corporation’s shares in
FPSC to SPML and the price of those shares are subject to further orders which may be given by
the tribunal in due course in one or more future Awards, which will also deal with the matter of
which party or parties will be responsible for the costs of the arbitration. No payments have been
received from SPML to date.
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In view of these favorable decisions by the arbitral tribunal which makes the sale of the ownership
of FPH (through its subsidiaries) in FPSC and FPNC highly probable, the Group has considered
that the wafer slicing operations of both FPNC and FPSC met the definition of discontinued
operations, and as such, the assets, liabilities and results of operations that can be clearly
distinguished operationally and for financial reporting purposes from the rest of the Group have
been terminated (see Note 5).
Classification of Financial Instruments. The Group exercises judgment in classifying a financial
instrument, or its component parts, on initial recognition as either a financial asset, a financial
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement
and the definition of a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument. The substance of
a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its classification in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
Contingencies. The Group has possible claims from or obligation to other parties from past events
and whose existence may only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within its control. Management has determined that the present
obligations with respect to contingent liabilities and claims with respect to contingent assets do not
meet the recognition criteria, and therefore has not recorded any such amounts.
Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
financial reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group
based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the
Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
Impairment of Non-financial Assets (i.e., Investments in Associates/PDRs and a Joint Venture,
Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Properties, Concession Rights for Contracts Acquired,
Water Rights, Pipeline Rights, Other Intangible Assets, Prepaid Major Spare Parts and Input VAT
claims/tax credits). The Group assesses impairment of these non-financial assets whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. The factors that the Group considers important, which could trigger an impairment
review include the following:





Significant under-performance relative to expected historical or projected future operating
results;
Significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall
business; and
Significant negative industry and economic trends.

The Group recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. The fair
value less cost to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model
which requires use of estimates of a suitable discount rate and expected future cash inflows.
Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the cashgenerating unit to which the assets belong. In the case of Input VAT, where the collection of tax
claims is uncertain, the Group provides an allowance for impairment based on the assessment of
management and the Group’s legal counsel.
Impairment of Goodwill. The Group performs impairment review on goodwill on an annual basis
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
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goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires us to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Estimating Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment (except Land), Investment Properties,
Concession Rights for Contracts Acquired, Water Rights and Pipeline Rights and Other Intangible
Assets. The Group estimated the useful lives based on the periods over which the assets are
expected to be available for use and on the collective assessment of industry practices, internal
technical evaluation and experience with similar assets and arrangements.
The estimated useful lives are reviewed at each financial reporting date and updated, if
expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial
obsolescence and legal or other limits in the use of these assets. However, it is possible that
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates brought about
by changes in the aforementioned factors.
The amounts and timing of recording the depreciation and amortization for any year would be
affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives
would increase the depreciation and amortization and decrease the carrying value of the assets.
There is no change in the estimated useful lives of the assets in the periods presented.
Impairment of Investments in Equity Securities. The Group considers investments in equity
securities as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
such investments below their cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment. The Group treats
“significant” generally as 20% or more and “prolonged” as greater than 12 months. In addition, the
Group evaluates other factors, including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the
future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities.
The Group recognized impairment losses of P
= 39 milion on its investment in Narra Venture Capital
II, LLC (Narra Venture) in 2014.
Investments in equity and debt securities are carried at P
= 13,010 million and P
= 11,953 million as at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
Impairment of Loans and Receivables. The Group reviews its loans and receivables at each
financial reporting date to assess whether an allowance for impairment should be recorded in the
consolidated statement of income. In particular, judgment by management is required in the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance
required. Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results
may differ, resulting in future changes in the allowance.
The Group maintains an allowance for impairment of receivables at a level that management
considers adequate to provide for potential uncollectibility of its trade and other receivables. The
Group evaluates specific balances where management has information that certain amounts may
not be collectible. In these cases, the Group uses judgment, based on available facts and
circumstances, and a review of the factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts including,
but not limited to, the age and status of the receivables, collection experience, and past loss
experience.
The review is made by management on a continuing basis to identify accounts to be provided with
allowance. These specific reserves are re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information
received affects the amount estimated.
In addition to specific allowance against individually significant receivables, the Group also makes
a collective impairment allowance against exposures which, although not specifically identified as
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requiring a specific allowance, have a greater risk of default than when originally granted.
Collective assessment of impairment is made on a portfolio or group basis after performing a
regular review of age and status of the portfolio/group of accounts relative to historical collections,
changes in payment terms, and other factors that may affect ability to collect payments.
Estimating Net Realizable Value of Inventories. Inventories are presented at the lower of cost or
net realizable value. Estimates of net realizable value are based on the most reliable evidence
available at the time the estimates are made, of the amount the inventories are expected to
realize. A review of the items of inventories is performed at each financial reporting date to reflect
the accurate valuation of inventories in the consolidated financial statements.
Inventories amounted to P
= 17,416 million and P
= 15,218 million as at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively.
Estimation of Retirement Benefit Liability. The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other
post-employment medical benefits as well as the present value of the pension obligation are
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making various
assumptions. These include the determination of the discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the
underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, defined benefit obligations are highly sensitive to
changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of
government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, with
extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation.
The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific country and is
modified accordingly with estimates of mortality improvements. Future salary increases and
pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the specific country.
Estimation of Asset Retirement and Preservation Obligations. The asset retirement and
preservation obligations of the Group pertain to the following subsidiaries.
a. FGP, FGPC and FG Bukidnon
Under their respective Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC) issued by the Department of
Environmental and Natural Resources (DENR), FGP and FGPC have legal obligations to
dismantle their power plant assets at the end of their useful lives. FG Bukidnon, on the other
hand, has a contractual obligation under the lease agreement with Power Sector Assets and
Liabilities Management (PSALM) to dismantle its power plant assets at the end of the useful lives.
b. EDC
In 2009, with the conversion of its Geothermal Service Contracts (GSCs) to Geothermal
Renewable Energy Service Contracts (GRESCs), EDC has made a judgment that the GRESCs
are subject to the provision for restoration costs. In determining the amount of provisions for
rehabilitation and restoration costs, assumptions and estimates are required in relation to the
expected cost to rehabilitate and restore sites and infrastructure when such obligation exists.
c.

FPIC

Asset preservation obligation of FPIC represents the net present value of obligations associated
with the preservation of property and equipment that resulted from acquisition, construction or
development and the normal operation of property and equipment. FPIC commissions an
independent party, as deemed appropriate, to initially estimate APO. The provision recognized
represents the best estimate of the expenditures required to preserve the assets similar with the
requirement of asset retirement obligation. Such cost estimates are discounted using a pre-tax
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rate of 6.0% which management assessed as reflective of current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The asset retirement and preservation obligations recognized represent the best estimate of the
expenditures required to dismantle the power plants at the end of their useful lives and to preserve
the property and equipment of FPIC. Such cost estimates are discounted using a pre-tax rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability. Each year, the asset retirement obligations are increased to reflect the accretion of
discount and to accrue an estimate for the effects of inflation, with the charges being recognized
under the “Interest expense and financing charges” account in the consolidated statement of
income. While it is believed that the assumptions used in the estimation of such costs are
reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the recorded expense
or obligations in future years.
Asset retirement and preservation obligations amounted to P
= 1,529 million and P
= 1,452 million as at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at each
financial reporting date are reviewed and reduced to the extent that there are no longer sufficient
taxable profits available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. The Group’s
assessment of the recognition of deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefits of MCIT and NOLCO is based on the forecasted taxable income of the following
reporting period. This forecast is based on the Group’s past results and future expectations on
revenues and expenses.
Estimating Revenue and Cost of Real Estate Sales. Rockwell Land’s revenue and cost
recognition policies require management to make use of estimates and assumptions that may
affect the reported amounts of revenues and costs. Rockwell Land’s revenue from real estate
contracts recognized based on the percentage of completion method is measured principally on
the basis of the estimated completion of a physical proportion of the contract work. Cost of real
estate sold is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method applied. Cost of
condominium units sold before completion of the project is determined based on actual costs and
project estimates of building contractors and technical staff. At each financial reporting date,
these estimates are reviewed and revised to reflect the current conditions, when necessary.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are required to
be carried at fair value, which requires the use of accounting estimates and judgment. While
significant components of fair value measurement are determined using verifiable objective
evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates, interest rates and volatility rates), the timing and amount of
changes in fair value would differ with the valuation methodology used. Any changes in the fair
value of these financial assets and financial liabilities would directly affect consolidated profit and
loss and consolidated equity.
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a
variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but when this is not feasible, a degree
of judgment is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of
liquidity and model inputs such as correlation and volatility for longer dated financial instruments.
Legal Contingencies and Regulatory Assessments. The Group is involved in various legal
proceedings and regulatory assessments. The Group has developed estimates of probable costs
for the resolution of possible claims in consultation with in-house and external counsels handling
the Group’s defense for various legal proceedings and regulatory assessments and is based upon
an analysis of potential results.
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The Group, in consultation with its external legal counsels, does not believe that these
proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements.
However, it is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in
the estimates or the effectiveness of management’s strategies relating to these proceedings.
Shortfall Generation. EDC’s PPA with NPC requires the annual nomination of capacity that EDC
shall deliver to NPC. EDC bills NPC based on the nominated capacity. At the end of the contract
year, EDC’s fulfillment of the nominated capacity and the parties’ responsibilities for any shortfall
shall be determined. The contract year for the Unified Leyte PPA is for fiscal period ending July
25 while the contract year for the Mindanao I and II PPAs is for fiscal period ending December 25.
Assessment is made at every financial reporting date whether the nominated capacity would be
met based on management’s projection of electricity generation covering the entire contract year.
If the occurrence of shortfall generation is determined to be probable, the amount of estimated
reimbursement to NPC is accounted for as a deduction to revenue for the period and a
corresponding liability is recognized. Moreover, the amount of estimations relating to the shortfall
generation under the PPA’s covering Unified Leyte, Mindanao I and Mindanao II could be
subsequently adjusted depending on the subsequent reconciliation by the Technical or Steering
Committee established in accordance with the Unified Leyte PPA in view of the parties’
responsibilities in connection with the consequences of Typhoon Yolanda.

4. Operating Segment Information
Operating segments are components of the Group that engage in business activities from which
they may earn revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by
the Group’s chief operating decision-maker (the BOD) to make decisions about how resources are
to be allocated to the segment and assess their performances, and for which discrete financial
information is available.
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature
of the products and services, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers
different products and serves different markets.
The Group conducts majority of its business activities in the following areas:





Power generation – power generation subsidiaries under First Gen
Real estate development – residential and commercial real estate development and leasing of
Rockwell Land and First Philippine Realty Corporation (FPRC), and sale of industrial lots and
ready-built factories by First Philippine Industrial Park (FPIP).
Manufacturing – manufacturing subsidiaries under First Philippine Electric Corporation (First
Philec)
Others – investment holdings, oil transporting company, construction, securities transfer
services and financing
Segment income is evaluated based on net income and is measured consistently with net
income in the consolidated statements of income. Segment revenue, segment expenses
and segment performance include transfers between business segments. The transfers
are accounted for at competitive market prices charged to unrelated customers for similar
products. Such transfers are eliminated in consolidation.

The operations of these business segments are substantially in the Philippines. First Gen’s
revenues are substantially generated from sale of electricity to Meralco, the sole customer of FGP
and FGPC; while close to 47.9% of EDC’s total revenues are derived from existing long-term
PPAs with NPC. Total revenues from sale of electricity to Meralco account for more than 10% of
the Group’s consolidated revenues.

- 40 –

Financial information about the business segments follows:
2015
Power

Real Estate

Generation

Development

Investment
Holdings,
Construction
and Other
Services

Manufacturing

Eliminations

Consolidated

(In Millions)
Revenues:
External sales

62,742

4,992

1,727

5,669

(4,030)

71,100

Inter-segment sales

-

-

-

-

-

-

Equity in net earnings of
associates and a joint venture

-

118

-

3,127

(1,819)

1,426

Total revenues

62,742

5,110

1,727

8,796

(5,849)

72,526

(46,210)

(3,964)

(1,367)

(6,008)

3,488

(54,061)

323

752

5

71

-

1,151

Finance costs

(6,069)

(345)

(41)

(732)

-

Foreign exchange gain (loss)

(1,209)

3

(2)

(8)

-

1,098

160

2

2,452

(293)

(1,216)
3,419

10,675

1,716

324

4,571

(2,654)

14,632

2,585

452

48

112

(40)

3,157

8,090

1,264

276

4,459

(2,614)

11,475

-

-

-

-

(204)

8,090

1,264

4,459

(2,614)

11,271

Costs and expenses
Finance income

Other income (loss)
Income (loss) before income tax
Provision for income tax
Net income from continuing
operations
Net loss from discontinued
operations
Net income (loss)

(204)
72

(7,187)

2014
Power

Real Estate

Generation

Development

Manufacturing

Investment
Holdings,
Construction
and Other
Services

Eliminations

Consolidated

(In Millions)
Revenues:
External sales

63,122

5,938

1,455

3,879

-

74,394

-

-

-

2,387

(2,387)

-

-

70

-

3,221

(2,180)

1,111

Inter-segment sales
Equity in net earnings of
associates and a joint
venture
Total revenues
Costs and expenses
Finance income
Finance costs

63,122

6,008

1,455

9,487

(4,567)

75,505

(45,859)

(4,865)

(1,332)

(6,489)

2,045

(56,500)

208

824

125

77

-

1,234

(5,472)

(450)

(50)

(527)

66

(6,433)

Foreign exchange gain (loss)

(188)

(1)

9

(1)

-

(181)

Other income (loss)

3,068

219

(47)

1,146

(851)

3,535

1,735

160

3,693

(3,307)

17,160

411

26

197

(12)

3,337

12,164

1,324

134

3,496

(3,295)

13,823

-

-

(483)

-

-

(483)

Income (loss) before income tax
Provision for income tax
Net income from continuing
operations
Net loss from discontinued
operations
Net income (loss)

14,879
2,715

12,164

1,324

(349)

3,496

(3,295)

13,340
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5. Transfer of Media Interest, Significant Acquisitions, Discontinued Operations and Material
Non-controlling Interest
Transfer of Media Interest
As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Parent Company owned the PDRs issued
by Lopez, the ultimate parent company (“Lopez PDRs”) with underlying 987,130,246 ABS-CBN
preferred shares and 480,933,747 ABS-CBN common shares.
The key features of the Lopez PDRs follow:


The Lopez PDRs are secured by a pledge of the shares transferred and all subsequent
shares distributed to Lopez by reason of its holdings of ABS-CBN.



Upon exercise of the PDRs and payment of the exercise price, the ownership of the
underlying ABS-CBN shares on each PDR shall be transferred to the Parent Company.
Pending the exercise of the PDRs, the ownership on the underlying ABS-CBN shares on
each PDR shall be registered under the name of Lopez. Thus, the Parent Company shall
have no voting rights with respect to the underlying ABS-CBN shares until it actually
exercise the PDRs.



Lopez retains its rights to receive cash flows from its investment in ABS-CBN and assumes a
contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to the Parent Company (a ‘pass-through’
arrangement). Any cash dividends or other cash distributions paid in respect of underlying
ABS-CBN shares shall be distributed to the Parent Company pro rata after such cash
dividends are received by Lopez.

As at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, carrying values of PDRs amounted to
P
= 15,393 million and P
= 14,375 million, respectively, with underlying 480,933,747 ABS-CBN
common shares and 987,130,246 ABS-CBN preferred shares.
The Parent Company received cash dividends from its investment in PDRs for a total of P
= 289
million in 2015 and P
= 293 in 2014.
EDC’s acquisition of Hot Rock Entities
On January 3, 2014, EDC Hong Kong Limited (EDC HKL), a wholly owned subsidiary of EDC
acquired Hot Rock Peru BVI and Hot Rock Chile BVI (collectively, the Hot Rock entities) with a
total acquisition cost of P
= 134.1 million ($3.0 million) and recognized Goodwill amounting to
P
= 116.3 million ($2.6 million). This effectively gave EDC HKL a 100% indirect interest to acquirees’
subsidiaries namely, EDC Energia Verde Chile SpA, EDC Energia de la Tierra SpA and EDC
Energia Verde Peru SAC. These Hot Rock entities are at the initial phase of geothermal power
business and have been granted with government concession license to exploit geothermal
resources and are engaged in exploration of geothermal energy in Chile and Peru.
On the same date, EDC HKL remitted P
= 80.5 million ($1.8 million) and P
= 53.7 million ($1.2 million)
to Hot Rock Peru BVI and Hot Rock Chile BVI, respectively, representing the full payment of the
acquisition.
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The fair values of the identifiable assets that were recognized on acquisition date are as follows:
Fair Values
In USD
In PHP
(In Thousands)
Cash
Non-trade receivables
Input VAT
Exploration costs
Total assets
Percentage of ownership acquired
Share in assets acquired
Goodwill arising from acquisition (see Note 15)
Total acquisition cost

$7
1
152
219
379
100%
379
2,624
$3,003

P
= 333
20
6,743
9,693
16,789
100%
16,789
116,396
P
= 133,185

First Gen’s acquisition of non-controlling interests in Prime Terracota
On May 20, 2014, First Gen purchased 31.0 million Series “B” voting preferred shares of Prime
Terracota Holdings, Corp (Prime Terracota) owned by Employees Retirement Plan of Lopez Inc.
(Lopez Inc. Retirement Fund) [LIRF] for a total consideration of $1.1 million. As a result of the
transaction, the First Gen direct voting interest in Prime Terracota has increased from 45.0% to
73.4% and its effective voting interest in EDC has likewise increased from 33.6% to 50.7%
through Prime Terracota. As at December 31, 2014, the amount of equity reserve pertaining to
the acquisition of the non-controlling stake of LIRF in Prime Terracota amounted to $0.1 million
(P
= 4.5 million). The share of FPH in the equity reserve adjustment amounts to P
= 3.0 million.
Northern Terracota’s acquisition of non-controlling interest in EDC
In 2014, Northern Terracota acquired EDC shares for P
= 471 million resulting in equity reserve
adjustment of P
= 303 million. The share of FPH amounts to P
= 201 million.
Acquisition of Majority Interest in ATR KimEng Land, Inc.
On December 22, 2014, Rockwell Primaries Development Corporation (Rockwell Primaries)
entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with ATR Holdings, Inc. and Dragon Eagle
International Limited for the joint and collective investment in and acquisition of all of the
outstanding common shares of Maybank ATR KimeEng Capital Partners, Inc. (Maybank ATR) in
ATRKE Land. Rockwell Primaries acquired 1,860,000 common shares, equivalent to 60%
ownership interest, through a Deed of Absolute Sale for a consideration of P
= 561.6 million. Initial
payment representing 25% of the purchase price was made at closing date and the remaining
75% shall be payable on five equal annual amortization with 5% interest per annum. The unpaid
purchase price of P
= 421.2 million is presented as part of “Long-term debts”.
Carrying value of non-controlling interst in Maybank ATR amounts to P
= 251.6 million as at
December 31, 2014.
Discontinued Operations of FPSC and FPNC
In 2012, First PV and FPNC initiated arbitration proceedings against Nexolon with the ICC while
First Philec and FPSC initiated arbitration proceedings against SPML with the ICC. The
companies received a favorable arbitration award in October 2014 for First PV and FPNC and a
favoriable partial award for First Philec and FPSC in January 2015. In view of these favorable
decisions by the arbitral tribunal which makes the sale of the ownership of FPH (through its
subsidiaries) in FPSC and FPNC highly probable, the Group had considered that the wafer slicing
operations of both FPNC and FPSC met the definition of discontinued operations, and as such,
the assets, liabilities and results of operations that can be clearly distinguished operationally and
for financial reporting purposes from the rest of the Group have been terminated.
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The major classes of assets and liabilities of FPSC and FPNC as at December 31, 2014 are as
follows (Amounts in Millions):
Assets of discontinued operations held for sale:
Cash
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Property and equipment
Others
Liabilities related to assets of discontinued
operations held for sale Payables and accrued liabilities

P
= 24
370
36
495
96
P
= 1,021

P
= 2,021

Following are the results of operations of FPSC and FPNC for the year ended December 31
(Amounts in Millions):
Sales
Cost of sales
General and administrative expenses
Other expenses (income)
Foreign exchange loss (gain ) – net
Finance costs
Impairment loss
Others
Loss before income tax
Provision for income tax
Net loss from discontinued operations
Loss per share:
Basic
Diluted

P
=–
–
–
200
(10)
5
–
378
(573)
–
(P
= 573)

P
= 0.0573
0.0554

The net cash flows of FPSC and FPNC are as follows (Amounts in Millions):
Operating
Investing
Financing
Net cash inflow (outflow)

P
= 75
9
(37)
P
= 47
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Material Non-controlling Interest
The financial information of FPH, a significant subsidiary of the Parent Company that has material
non-controlling interests, is provided below.

September 30, 2015
Economic Economic
Proportion of ownership interest and voting
rights held by non-controlling interests

54.10%

54.10%

As at
December 31, 2014
Economic Economic
54.08%

54.08%

As at
September 30,
December 31,
2015
2014
(Amounts in Millions)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests

P
= 92,935

P
= 87,276

As at
September 30,
December 31,
2015
2014
(Amounts in Millions)
Net income attributable to non-controlling
interests
Total comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests

P
= 6,916

P
= 12,000

7,317

10,582

The summarized financial information of FPH is provided below. This information is based on
amounts before inter-company eliminations.
Summarized consolidated statements of financial position:
2014
(Amounts in Millions)
Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent company
Non-controlling interests

P
= 105,694
217,640
(54,291)
(152,395)
P
= 116,648

P
= 65,304
51,344
P
= 116,648

- 45 –

Summarized consolidated statements of comprehensive income:
2014
(Amounts in Millions)
Revenues
Costs and expenses
Other income (expenses)
Income before income tax
Provision for (benefit from) income tax
Net income from continuing operations
Net income (loss) from discontinued
operations
Net income

P
= 99,307
76,895
(2,867)
19,545
4,396
15,149

Total comprehensive income
Attributable to
Equity holders of the Parent
Non-controlling Interests

P
= 13,076

(573)
P
= 14,576

P
= 3,685
9,391
P
= 13,076

Summarized consolidated statements of cash flows:
2014
(Amounts in Millions)
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net increase(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

P
= 26,355
(37,346)
4,717
P
= (6,274)

6. Long-term Debts

The current and noncurrent portions of the consolidated long-term debts (net of debt issuance
costs) of the Group follow:
September 30, 2015
Current Noncurrent
Portion
Portion
Parent Company
FPH
Power Generation
Companies
Manufacturing Companies
Real Estate Development
Others
Total

P
= 26
1,552

P
= 1,034
12,133

8,905
242
1,697
274
12,696

128,282
884
12,457
1,775
156,565

December 31, 2014
Current Noncurrent
Total
Portion
Portion
Total
(Amounts In Millions)
P
= 1,060
P
= 26
P
= 986
P
= 1,012
13,685
1,558
13,147
14,705
137,187
1,126
14,154
2,049
169,261

14,933
115
2,419
–
19,051

112,330
807
13,638
2,249
143,157

127,263
922
16,057
2,249
162,208

a. Parent Company
Restructured Notes. In December 2010, the Parent Company issued a P
= 1.1 million Peso
Tranche Notes and US$23 million Dollar Tranche Notes (the Restructured Notes), subject to
the terms and conditions of the Notes Issuance Agreement (the Agreement).
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The Dollar Tranche and Peso Tranche Restructured Notes bear interest at 4.0% (gross of tax)
and 7.0% (gross of tax), respectively, based on the outstanding balances as at interest
payment date. The Restructured Notes will mature on March 28, 2023. The Parent Company
has the option to redeem the Restructured Notes, without premium or penalty, subject to the
conditions stated in the Agreement. Restructured Notes redeemed may not be re-borrowed.
The Agreement provides for a voluntary early redemption option subject to certain conditions.
The redemption should be made at par value of the Notes, without premium or penalty. The
early redemption option was assessed as not closely related to the Notes. The fair value of
the option (derivative asset) amounted to P
= 10 million at initial recognition. As at September
30, 2015, the value of the derivative asset amounted to P
= 11 million, (shown as part of “Other
Noncurrent Assets” account in the consolidated statements of financial position).
The Restructured Notes are unsecured and provide certain restrictions with respect to, among
others, loans to third parties, merger or consolidation, sales of assets, except in certain
circumstances.
LTCPs. This account pertains to the Series A-2 of LTCPs issued on August 9, 1996.
It was supposed to be repaid in one lump sum on October 1, 2003 with interest at 1-1/8%
above the 91-day Treasury Bill (TB) rate, also payable quarterly in arrears.
The Parent Company defaulted on its interest payments on the LTCPs in 2002 and on its
principal in 2003. The terms of the LTCP provide for the payment of penalties should there be
an event of default on interest and/or principal computed at 24% per annum from the date of
default.
However, under the Balance Sheet Management Plan (BSMP) that was created by the Parent
Company in June 2002, all the outstanding financial obligations of the Parent Company as at
May 31, 2002 were proposed to be restructured. Since December 2002, the Parent Company
made good faith semi-annual interest payments on its financial obligations based on a 6month PDST-F note plus 1%.
On March 13, 2003, the stockholders granted full authority to the BOD to negotiate with the
creditors without the need for prior approval from the stockholders. The BOD has the
authority to take all actions and matters necessary and desirable for the restructuring of the
Parent Company’s financial obligations under the BSMP.
Subject to availability of cash, the Parent Company’s standing offer to buy-back all or any part
of its remaining LTCPs, under mutually acceptable terms, remain in place.
In 2014, the Parent Company purchased LTCPs with face value of P
= 40 million at par. The
excess of the carrying amount of the debt, including accrued interest, over the buy-back price
amounted to P
= 118 million in 2014. This is shown as part of the “Excess of the carrying
amount of obligation over the buy-back price” in the consolidated statements of income.
4.2% Perpetual Convertible Bonds. The 4.2% Perpetual Convertible Bonds (Bonds), listed in
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and issued in registered form in denomination of US$1.49
each, bear interest from November 26, 1994 at 4.2% per annum, net of withholding taxes,
determined at a fixed exchange rate and payable annually in arrears in November 30 of each
year commencing on November 30, 1995. The Bonds may be converted on or after
November 26, 1995 into fully paid common shares of the Parent Company by reference to the
Philippine Peso equivalent of the US Dollar-denominated principal amount of the Bonds,
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determined at a fixed exchange rate, and at an initial conversion price of P
= 4.2 per share,
subject to adjustment in certain events. The Bonds are redeemable at the option of the Parent
Company, in whole or in part, at any time after November 26, 1998 at a price equal to the
principal amount of the Bonds or market price of the shares issuable upon conversion,
whichever is higher, subject to certain conditions.
Certain number of shares equivalent to 1,507,745 shares as at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 are reserved to cover any conversion of the outstanding Bonds into
common shares and stock dividends declared during the year. There were no units converted
in 2015 and 2014.
The Bonds are unsecured and constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and subject to
certain exceptions, unsecured obligations of the Parent Company and shall at all times rank
pari-passu and without any preference or priority among themselves and at least equally with
all other present and future unsecured obligations of the Parent Company, except for such
exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation.
Interest and other finance charges, including penalties, recognized by the Parent Company in
the consolidated statements of income amounted to P
= 46 million in 2015 and P
= 56 million in
2014.
FPH
P
= 6,000 Million FXCN. On August 12 and 13, 2014, FPH executed separate Loan Agreements
with Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc. (P
= 900 million), BDO Private Bank (P
= 500 million), Bank of
Commerce (P
= 1,000 million), Development Bank of the Philippines (P
= 1,000 million), Land Bank
of the Philippines (P
= 1,450 million), United Coconut Planters Bank (P
= 250 million), Robinsons
Bank Corporation (P
= 450 million) and Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation
(P
= 450 million)
for the total principal amount of P
= 6,000 million. BDO Capital and Investment Corporation acted
as the “Sole Arranger”. The FXCN bear a fixed interest of 5.25% per annum.
FPH may prepay on any interest payment date commencing on, and including the fourth year
anniversary from the date of drawdown, in whole or in part, subject to the fulfillment of all the
following conditions:
i.

FPH shall give the Lender not less than 30 days prior written notice of its intention to
prepay the whole or portion of the loan, which notice shall be irrevocable and binding upon
FPH to effect such prepayment of the loan on the interest payment date stated in such notice;

ii.

The amount payable to the Lender in respect of any prepayment shall include accrued
and unpaid interest up to the prepayment date, a prepayment fee of 2% of the principal
amount of the note to be prepaid and GRT adjustments, if any;

iii.
iv.

The note may not be re-issued; and
Prepayment on the loan shall be in minimum amounts of P
= 45 million and in increments of
P
= 4.5 million, to be applied in the inverse of maturity.
In 2014, payments made for the principal value and interest of the loan amounted to nil. Total
finance costs, including amortization of debt issue cost, amounted to P
= 124 million.
P
= 5,000 Million FXCN. On April 5, 2013, FPH entered into a loan agreement with BDO Capital
and Investment Corporation (as Sole Arranger) and BDO Unibank, Inc., as lender, for an
aggregate principal amount of P
= 5,000 million with a fixed coupon interest rate of 5.00% per
annum. The loan will mature in 2020. Debt issue cost of P
= 57 million was capitalized as part
of the loan and is amortized using the effective interest rate method.
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FPH effectively borrowed the P
= 5,000 million to repay in full the remaining tranches, consisting
of the 7 and 10- year notes.
FPH may prepay on any interest payment date commencing on, and including the fourth year
anniversary from the date of drawdown, in whole or in part, subject to the fulfillment of all the
following conditions:
i.

FPH shall give the Lender not less than 30 days prior written notice of its intention to
prepay the whole or portion of the loan, which notice shall be irrevocable and binding upon
FPH to effect such prepayment of the loan on the interest payment date stated in such notice;

ii.

The amount payable to the Lender in respect of any prepayment shall include accrued
and unpaid interest up to the prepayment date, a prepayment fee of 2% of the principal
amount of the note to be prepaid and GRT adjustments, if any;

iii.
iv.

The note may not be re-issued; and
Prepayment on the loan shall be in minimum amounts of P
= 500 million and in increments
of P
= 100 million, to be applied in the inverse of maturity.
Prepayment option embedded in the host debt instrument is closely related as the option’s
exercise price is approximately equal to the loan’s amortized cost.
P
= 4,800 Million FRCN. On October 25, 2011, FPH entered into a Facility Agreement with BDO
Capital and Investment Corporation (as Sole Arranger) and several financial institutions,
consisting of, Banco De Oro Unibank, Inc., Maybank Philippines, Inc., Rizal Commercial
Banking Corporation and Union Bank of the Philippines. The Facility Agreement covers the
issuance of floating rate corporate notes in the principal amount of up to P
= 4,800 million and
which will mature in 2018.
FPH effectively borrowed P
= 4,800 million under the new facility to repay in full the P
= 1,596
million (US$37 million) and the P
= 3,228 million outstanding principal of the 2007 dual currency
floating rate notes. This refinancing reduced FPH’s spread on its over six-months PDST-F
interest from 210 basis points for the dollar tranche notes and 235 basis points for the peso
tranche notes to 150 basis points, while extending the maturity of the principal from 2012 and
2014, respectively, to 2018. The interest rate is subject to the floor rate of the BSP overnight
borrowing rate.
FPH may, at its option, and without premium or penalty, redeem the notes in whole or in part
on any interest payment date provided each partial prepayment shall be in minimum amounts
equivalent to 5% of the notes and in excess thereof, integral multiples of 1% thereof
outstanding. Interest payment date pertains to the last day of each interest period, provided,
that if any interest payment date would otherwise fall on a day that is not a banking day, such
interest payment date shall be on the immediately succeeding banking day.
The terms of the FXCN and FRCN Facility Agreements require FPH to comply with certain
restrictions and covenants, which include among others: (i) maintenance of certain debt
service coverage ratio at given periods provided based on core group financial statements;
(ii) maintenance of certain levels of financial ratio; (iii) maintenance of its listing on the PSE;
(iv) no material changes in the nature of business; (v) incurrence of indebtedness secured by
liens, unless evaluated to be necessary; (vi) granting of loans to third parties except to
subsidiaries or others in the ordinary course of business; (vii) sale or lease of assets; (viii)
mergers or consolidations; and (ix) declaration or payment of dividends other than stock
dividends during an Event of Default (as defined in the Agreement) or if such payments will
result in an Event of Default.
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As at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, these restrictions and covenants were
complied by FPH.

b. Power Generation Companies
First Gen’s US$100 Million Notes Facility (Tranches A and B). On December 17, 2010 (the
“Effective Date”), First Gen, BDO Unibank, and BDO Capital & Investment Corporation
executed the unsecured Notes Facility Agreement granting First Gen a facility to borrow an
aggregate principal amount of US$100 million. The Notes Facility is equally divided into two
tranches: (i) Tranche A with a term of six years from drawdown date and (ii) Tranche B with a
term of seven years from drawdown date.
On March 29, 2011, First Gen availed US$25.5 million of Tranche A and US$25.5 million of
Tranche B. First Gen paid a commitment fee of 0.25% per annum on the undrawn amount.
On January 2, 2012, the remaining US$24.5 million of Tranche A and US$24.5 million of
Tranche B were drawn. The maturity of Tranche A and Tranche B will mature on March 29,
2017 and March 29, 2018, respectively.
The Notes Facility offers First Gen the option of pricing the loan at a fixed or floating rate
equivalent to the sum of the applicable benchmark rate and a margin of 2.625% per annum.
First Gen elected to avail the loans at a fixed interest rate of 6.4979% and 6.8052% for
Tranche A and Tranche B, respectively. The interest on the Notes Facility is payable on a
semi-annual basis.
On October 11, 2012, First Gen and BDO executed Amendment No. 2 to the Notes Facility
Agreement to amend the interest rate to 5.09091% for both Tranche A and Tranche B
effective October 16, 2012 until the respective maturity dates.
In addition, the Notes Facility imposes standard loan covenants to First Gen and requires it to
maintain a debt service coverage ratio of at least 1.2:1 and a debt-to-equity ratio of at most
2.5:1. The obligations of First Gen under the Notes Facility are unsecured. To date, First Gen
is in compliance with the terms of the Notes Facility Agreement.
First Gen’s US$300.0 Million 10-year Notes. On October 9, 2013, First Gen issued a
US$250.0 million, U.S. Dollar denominated Senior Unsecured Notes (the “Notes”) due on
October 9, 2023 at the rate of 6.50% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 9
and October 9 of each year. On October 31, 2013, additional Notes of US$50.0 million were
issued and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes. The US$50.0 million Notes
are identical in all respects to the original Notes, other than with respect to the date of
issuance and issue price. The Notes are issued in registered form in the amounts of
US$200,000 and integral multiples of US$1,000 in excess thereof. The Notes are represented
by a permanent global certificate (“Global Certificate”) in fully registered form that has been
deposited with the custodian for and registered in the name of a nominee for a common
depositary for Euroclear bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking, societe anonyme. The Notes
are listed on the SGX.
First Gen may, at its option, redeem all, (but not part) of the Notes at any time at par, plus
accrued interest, in the event of certain tax changes. Upon the occurrence of a Change of
Control, the Noteholders shall have the right, at its option, to require First Gen to repurchase
all, (but not part) of the outstanding Notes at a redemption price equal to 101.0% of the
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, no earlier than 30 days and no later than
60 days following notice given to Noteholders of a Change of Control. First Gen may at any
time and from time to time prior to October 9, 2018 redeem all or a portion of the Notes at a

- 50 –

redemption price equal to 100.0% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus the
Applicable Premium, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the date of
redemption. In addition, at any time prior to October 9, 2018, First Gen may on any one or
more occasions redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes, at a
redemption price equal to 106.5% of the principal amount of notes redeemed plus accrued
and unpaid interest, with the net cash proceeds of certain equity offerings. Finally, at any time
and from time to time after October 9, 2018, First Gen may on any one or more occasions
redeem all or a part of the Notes at a specified redemption price (expressed in percentages of
the principal amount) plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the date of
redemption.
The Notes are direct, unconditional and unsecured obligations of First Gen, ranking pari passu
among themselves and at least pari passu with all other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of First Gen, but in the event of insolvency, only to the extent
permitted by applicable laws relating to creditors’ rights. To date, First Gen is in compliance
with the terms of the Notes.
At inception, the loan was recorded net of debt issuance cost amounting to P
= 147 million.
FGPC’s Term Loans. The long-term debts of FGPC consists of U.S. dollar-denominated
borrowings availed from various lenders to finance the operations of its power plant complex.
On November 14, 2008 (the “Refinancing Date”), FGPC entered into a Bank Facility
Agreement covering a US$544 million term loan facility with nine foreign banks namely: The
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., Calyon, KfW IPEX Bank GMBH, ING Bank N.V.
(Singapore Branch), Bayerische Hypo-Und Vereinsbank AG (Hong Kong Branch), Malayan
Banking Berhad, Standard Chartered Bank, Société Générale (Singapore Branch) and
Kreditanstalt Für Wiederaufbau (KfW) to refinance the Santa Rita project.
The term loan is broken down into three separate facilities namely:



US$312 million Covered Facility with a tenor of 12½ years



US$188 million Uncovered Facility with a ten-year tenor



US$44 million KfW Loan which matured in November 2012. This loan has fixed interest
rate of 7.20% and interest is payable semi-annually.

A portion of the proceeds of the term loans was used to repay outstanding loans of FGPC
amounting to P5,903 million (US$132.0) million and the remaining was upstreamed to FGPC’s
other shareholders as advances which are interest bearing. Such advances are subject to
interest rate of 175 basis points over the average of the rate for the six months U.S. dollar
deposits quoted by three reputable reference banks in the Philippines, provided however, that
such interest rate shall in no case exceed 5.80%.
With respect to the Covered Facility, the interest is payable semi-annually, every May and
November, based on LIBOR plus 325 basis points. This facility is covered by a PRI, and
premiums payable on the PRI are in addition to the margins payable by FGPC. The Covered
Facility will mature on May 10, 2021.
As to the Uncovered Facility, the interest is also payable semi-annually, every May and
November, based on LIBOR plus: (i) 3.50% per annum from the financial close until the
th
th
th
5 anniversary of the Refinancing Date, (ii) 3.75% per annum from the 6 until the 7
th
anniversary of the Refinancing Date, and (iii) 3.90% per annum from the 8 anniversary of the
Refinancing Date until the final maturity date, which is on November 10, 2018.
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In 2010, Bayerische Hypo-Und Vereinsbank AG (Hong Kong Branch) and Société Générale
(Singapore Branch) assigned all of their rights and obligations under the common terms of the
project financing facility agreement (Common Terms Agreement or CTA) and the Bank
Facility Agreement up to a total amount of US$10.0 million (which is comprised of
US$5.0 million principal amount of the Covered Facility and US$5.0 million principal amount of
the Uncovered Facility) to GE Capital Corporation, and the US$5.5 million principal amount of
Uncovered Facility to Banco De Oro Unibank, Inc. (BDO Unibank), respectively. In 2012,
Société Générale (Singapore Branch) assigned all of its rights and obligations under the CTA
and the Bank Facility Agreement up to a total amount of P
= 840 million (US$19.9 million) of
principal amount of the Covered Facility to Allied Banking Corporation which was
subsequently transferred to PNB as a result of merger of the two banks effective February 9,
2013.
However, the existing swap contracts with Bayerische Hypo-Und Vereinsbank AG (Hong Kong
Branch) and Société Générale (Singapore Branch) were not assigned.
As at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the unamortized debt issuance costs
incurred in connection with FGPC’s long-term debts were included in the measurement basis
of the long-term debts for financial reporting purposes.
The Common Terms Agreement of the FGPC financing facility contain covenants concerning
restrictions with respect to, among others: maintenance of specified debt service coverage
ratio; acquisition or disposition of major assets; pledging of present and future assets; change
in ownership; any acts that would result in a material adverse effect on the operations of the
Santa Rita power plant; and maintenance of good, legal and valid title to the site free from all
liens and encumbrances other than permitted liens. To date, FGPC is in compliance with the
terms of the said agreement.
FGPC has also entered into separate agreements in connection with its financing facilities as
follows:


Mortgage, Assignment and Pledge Agreement whereby a first priority lien on most
FGPC’s real and other properties, including revenues from the operations of the Santa
Rita power plant, has been executed in favor of the lenders. In addition, the shares of
stock of FGPC were pledged as part of security to the lenders.



Inter-Creditor Agreements, which describe the administration of the loans.



Trust and Retention Agreement (TRA) with the lenders’ designated trustees. Pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the TRA, FGPC has established various security accounts
with designated account banks, where inflows and outflows of proceeds from loans, equity
contributions and project revenues are monitored. FGPC may withdraw or transfer
moneys from these security accounts, subject to and in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the TRA.

FGP. The long-term debts of FGP consist of the following U.S. dollar-denominated
borrowings availed from various lenders to partly finance the construction and operations of its
power plant complex.
On October 3, 2012 (the “Refinancing Date”), FGP entered into a Facility Agreement covering
aP
= 17,241 million (US$420 million) term loan facility with seven local banks namely: BDO
Unibank, Inc., Bank of the Philippine Islands, Philippine National Bank, Rizal Commercial
Banking Corporation, Union Bank of the Philippines, The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited and Security Bank Corporation. The proceeds will be used to repay in full
the aggregate principal, accrued interests and fees outstanding under the existing facilities, to
fund the debt service reserve amount in the debt reserve account, to fund FGP’s general and
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corporate working capital requirements, and to upstream the remaining balance to fund
investments in other power projects.
On October 22, 2012, FGP availed the P
= 17,241 million (US$420 million) term loan facility with
a 10-year tenor until October 2022. As a result of the refinancing, a portion of the proceeds of
the term loan facility was used to pay the outstanding loans amounting to
P
= 3,178 million (US$77.4 million), and the remaining balance after funding of the debt reserve
account and payment of other fees and expenses was upstreamed to First Gen as advances
on November 5, 2012 as dividends and advances which are interest-bearing.
With respect to the term loan facility, the interest rate is computed semi-annually, every June
and December, using the six-month LIBOR floating benchmark rate plus 225 basis points
except for the first and the last interest periods wherein the benchmark rate will be the LIBOR
rate for such period nearest to the duration of the first and the last interest periods,
respectively. The term loan facility offers FGP the one-time option to reset the floating interest
rate to a fixed interest rate to be applicable to all or a portion of the outstanding loans on
December 10, 2015 or on December 10, 2017 by informing the facility agent five (5) banking
days prior to the effective date of the resetting of the interest rate. The fixed interest rate shall
be effective on December 10, 2015 to December 10, 2017, as applicable.
The covenants in the new term loan facility of FGP’s financing agreement, are limited to
restrictions with respect to: change in corporate business; amendment of constituent
documents; incurrence of other loans; granting of guarantees or right of set-off; maintenance
of good, legal and valid title to the critical assets of the site free from all liens and
encumbrances other than permitted liens; transactions with affiliates; and maintenance of
specified debt service coverage ratio and debt to equity ratio. FGP’s real and other properties
and shares of stock are no longer mortgaged and pledged as part of security to the lenders.
Instead, FGP covenants to its lenders that it shall not permit any indebtedness to be secured
by or to benefit from any lien on the critical assets of the site, except with the consent of the
lenders. As at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, FGP is in compliance with the
terms of the said agreement.
EDC’s $315 million Burgos Wind Project Financing. On October 17, 2014, EDC signed a
P
= 14,087 million ($315 million) financing facility agreement with local and foreign banks for the
construction of the 150-MW Burgos Wind Project (BWP) in Ilocos Norte. The facility which
consists of US Dollar and Philippine Peso-denominated tranches will mature in 15 years.
Portion of the proceeds received from the financing facility was used to settle the outstanding
bridge loans availed in October 2014.
Eksport Kredit Fonden, Denmark’s export credit agency, guaranteed a part of the dollar loan
component. The Mandated Lead Arrangers for the foreign tranche are Australia and New
Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ), DZ Bank AG, ING Bank NV, Malayan Banking Berhad
(Maybank) and Norddeutsche Landesbank Gironzentrale. The local tranche, meanwhile was
arranged by PNB Capital and Investment Corporation and SB Capital Investment Corporation
among a syndicate of local lenders namely BDO Unibank, Inc. (BDO), Land Bank of the
Philippines (Landbank), Philippine National Bank (PNB), and Security Bank Corporation
(SBC).
Under the agreement of the BWP Project Financing, EBWPC’s debt service is guaranteed by
EDC, This guarantee will fall away once the conditions set in the loan agreement are met.
Therefore, until the debt service guarantee falls away, EBWPC is subject to the same
maintenance ratios of EDC. In addition, for the lender’s security, a debt service reserve
account is maintained.

- 53 –

EDC’s Bridge Loans. On June 16, 2014, EDC signed a two-year loan facilities with an
aggregate amount of P
= 2,700 million ($60 million) with PNB amounting to P
= 1,300 million ($29
million) and SBC amounting to P
= 1,400 million ($31 million). On August 18, 2014, EDC fully
availed the $60 million loan.
On June 27, 2014, EDC has secured another bridge financing facility from ANZ and Mizuho
Corporate Bank, Ltd. (Mizuho) amounting to P
= 4,025 million ($90 million) and was fully availed
on July 31, 2014.
The bridge loans were partially used to finance the construction of Phase 2 of the 150-MW
Burgos Wind Project. In 2014, part of the proceeds from the $315 million financing agreement
for the construction of the 150MW Burgos Wind Project was used to prepay the bridge loans
availed in June 2014.
EDC’s US$ 300 Million Notes. On January 20, 2011, EDC issued a 10-year US$300 million
notes (P
= 13,350 million) at 6.50% interest per annum which will mature in January 2021. The
notes are intended to be used by EDC to support the business expansion plans, finance
capital expenditures, service debt obligations and for general corporate purposes. Such notes
were listed and quoted on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).
EDC’s Peso Public Bonds (P
= 12 billion). On December 4, 2009, EDC received P
= 12 billion
proceeds from the issuance of fixed rate Peso public bonds - split into two tranches P
= 8.5 billion, due after five years and six months and P
= 3.5 billion, due after seven years, paying
a coupon of 8.6418% and 9.3327%, respectively, and P
= 3.5 billion, due after seven years,
paying a coupon of 8.6418% and 9.3327%, respectively. The peso public bonds are also
listed on PDEx.
Effective November 14, 2013, certain covenants of the peso public bonds have been aligned
with the 2013 peso fixed-rate bonds through consent solicitation exercise held by EDC.
Upon securing the required consents, a Supplemental Indenture embodying the parties’
agreement on the proposed amendments was signed on November 7, 2013 between EDC
and Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation – Trust and Investments Group in its capacity as
trustee for the bondholders.
EDC’s loan agreement with IFC (P
= 7.4 billion). EDC entered into a loan agreement with IFC, a
shareholder of the EDC, on November 27, 2008 for US$100 million or its Peso equivalent of P
=
4,100 million. On January 7, 2009, EDC opted to draw the loan in Peso. The loan is payable
in 24 equal semi-annual instalments after a three-year grace period at an interest rate of 7.4%
per annum for the first five years subject to repricing for another 5 to 10 years. Under the loan
agreement, EDC is restricted from creating liens and is subject to certain financial covenants.
On May 20, 2011, EDC signed a 15-year US$75 million loan facility with the IFC to fund its
medium-term capital expenditures program. The loan was drawn in Peso on September 30,
2011, amounting to P
= 3,262 million. The loan is payable in 24 equal semi-annual instalments
after a three-year grace period at an interest rate of 6.657% per annum. The loan includes
prepayment option which allows EDC to prepay all or part of the loan anytime starting from the
date of the loan agreement until maturity. The prepayment amount is equivalent to the sum of
the principal amount of the loan to be prepaid, redeployment cost and prepayment premium.
EDC’s Issuance of FXCN (P
= 7 billion) and Prepayment of FRCN. On July 3, 2009, EDC
received P
= 7,500 million proceeds from the issuance of FRCN split into two tranches. The first
tranche of P
= 2,644 million will mature after 5 years and the second tranche of
P
= 4,856 million will mature after 7 years with a coupon rate of 8.3729% and 9.4042%
respectively. On September 3, 2009, EDC received P
= 1,500 million proceeds from the
additional issuance of FRCN, a 5-year series paying a coupon of 8.4321%.
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On April 4, 2012, EDC signed a 10-year FXCN facility agreement amounting to
P
= 7,000 million which is divided into two tranches. The proceeds from the first tranche
amounting to P
= 3,000 million were used to prepay in full its FRCN Series One and Series
Three for P
= 1,774 million and P
= 1,007 million, respectively. Subsequently, on May 3, 2012, the
FRCN Series Two was also prepaid in full for P
= 4,211 million using the proceeds from the
second FXCN tranche amounting to P
= 4,000 million. The FXCN tranches 1 and 2 bear a
coupon rate of 6.6173% and 6.6108% per annum, respectively. FRCN Series One and Series
Three were originally scheduled to mature in July 2014 while FRCN Series Two was originally
scheduled to mature in July 2016.
EDC recognized loss amounting to P
= 115 million arising from early extinguishment of FRCN in
2012. Debt issuance costs amounting to P
= 100 million was capitalized as part of the new
FXCN.
EDC’s Peso Fixed-Rate Bonds (P
= 7,000 million). On May 3, 2013, EDC issued fixed-rate peso
bonds in an aggregate principal amount of P
= 7,000 million. The bonds, which have been listed
on the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx), are comprised of P
= 3,000 million sevenyear bonds at 4.1583% and P
= 4,000 million 10-year bonds at 4.7312% due on May 3, 2020
and May 3, 2023, respectively. Interest is payable semiannually starting November 3, 2013.
Transaction costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the seven-year bonds and 10year bonds amounted to P
= 39 million and P
= 52 million, respectively. The net proceeds of the
bonds were used to partially fund the 87MW Burgos Wind Project located in Burgos, Ilocos
Norte.
EDC’s US$80 Million Term Loan. On March 21, 2013, EDC entered into a credit agreement
with certain banks to avail of a term loan facility of up to US$80 million with availability period
of 12 months from the date of the agreement.
On December 6, 2013, EDC availed of the full amount of the term loan with maturity date of
June 21, 2018. The proceeds are intended to be used by EDC for business expansion, capital
expenditures, debt servicing and for general corporate purposes. The term loan carries an
interest rate of 1.8% margin plus LIBOR. Debt issuance costs related to the term loan
amounted to US$2 million, including front-end fees and commitment fee.
The repayment of the term loan shall be made based on the following schedule: 4.0% and
th
th
5.0% of the principal amount on the 15 and 39 month from the date of the credit agreement,
respectively; and 91.0% of the principal amount on maturity date.
EDC’s Refinanced Syndicated Term Loan ($175 million). On June 17, 2011, EDC had
entered into a credit agreement for the US$175 million (P
= 7,630 million) transferable
syndicated term loan facility with ANZ, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., Chinatrust
(Philippines) Commercial Banking Corporation, ING Bank N.V., Manila Branch, Maybank
Group, Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd. and Standard Chartered Bank as Mandated Lead
Arrangers and Bookrunners. The purpose of the new loan is to refinance the old US$175
million syndicated term loan availed on September 30, 2010 with scheduled maturity of
September 30, 2013. The new loan carries an interest of LIBOR plus a margin of 175 basis
points and has instalment repayment scheme to commence on June 27, 2013 until June 27,
2017.
Loan Covenants. The loan covenants covering EDC’s outstanding debts include, among
others, maintenance of certain level of current, debt-to-equity and debt-service ratios. As at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, EDC is in compliance with the loan covenants of all their
respective outstanding debts.
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Red Vulcan (P
= 7 billion).On November 26, 2007 (the “Drawdown Date”), Red Vulcan availed of
a Philippine peso-denominated staple financing amounting to P
= 29,200 million (the “Secured
Indebtedness”) that was arranged by the Philippine Government’s financial advisor for EDC’s
stake sale under an Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement (the “Staple Financing
Agreement”). The Staple Financing was made available by a group of local lenders, namely
Development Bank of the Philippines (DBP), Banco de Oro-EPCI, Inc. (BDO) and Land Bank
of the Philippines (Land Bank) (collectively referred to as the “Staple Financing Lenders”) in
relation to the sale of 60% of EDC’s issued and outstanding capital stock. The interest rate of
the Secured Indebtedness is computed either using monthly, quarterly, or semi-annually at
Red Vulcan’s option, using the Philippine Dealing System Treasury Fixing (PDST-F)
benchmark rate plus the applicable interest margin, whichever is higher. Red Vulcan opted to
use semi-annual rate based on PDST-F. The staple financing was for a maximum term of 18
months from Drawdown Date.
As was set forth in the Staple Financing Agreement, Red Vulcan was obligated to comply with
certain covenants with respect to, among others: maintenance of a specified debt-to-equity
ratio; not make or permit any material change in the character of its or EDC’s business nor
engage or allow EDC to engage in any business operation or activity other than those for
which it is presently authorized by law; not dispose of all or substantially all of its and EDC’s
assets and no material changes in the corporate structure or in the composition of its top-level
management. In addition, Red Vulcan is restricted to declare or pay dividends (other than
stock dividend) to its stockholders or partners without the consent of all Staple Financing
Lenders. Red Vulcan was also restricted, except for permitted borrowings, to incur any longterm debts, increase its borrowings, or re-avail of existing facilities with other banks or
financial institutions.
In addition, all of the shares of stock held by Red Vulcan in EDC, which represented 60% of
EDC’s issued and outstanding capital stock, consisting of 6,000 million common stocks and
7,500 million preferred stocks (collectively, the “Pledged Shares”), were pledged as primary
security for the due and prompt payment of the Secured Indebtedness. The Pledged Shares
were adjusted to effect the 25% stock dividend to the shareholders of EDC declared in 2009.
On November 28, 2008, DBP and Land Bank assigned to BDO Unibank, Inc.-Trust and
Investments Group (BDO Trust) their corresponding portion of the staple financing loan
amounting to P
= 5,310 million.
On May 14, 2009 (the “Closing Date”), Red Vulcan signed an amended and restated Omnibus
Loan and Security Agreement with BDO and BDO Trust (the “Lenders”) to extend the term of
the loan for a maximum of five years and one day from the Closing Date, inclusive of two-year
grace period on the principal. Interest is payable every May and November of each year at
six-month PDST-F benchmark rate plus 2.5% interest margin per annum.
On August 13, 2009, BDO Trust executed a Deed of Assignment with respect to its
corresponding share on the outstanding balance of the loan wherein it assigned, set over,
transferred and conveyed without recourse, all its rights, title and interest to Prime Terracota.
Prime Terracota then became one of the creditors of Red Vulcan.
On February 5, 2010, with the conformity of the Lenders, Red Vulcan has effected a partial
prepayment of its outstanding loan payable to Prime Terracota, amounting to
P
= 5,296 million (gross of debt issuance cost of P
= 48 million) plus accrued interest amounting to
P
= 80 million by way of converting such loan payable into deposits for future stock
subscriptions. On April 20, 2010, Red Vulcan made an additional cash prepayment to BDO
amounting to P
= 260 million. On April 11, 2011, Red Vulcan again made a partial prepayment
of its outstanding loan payable to BDO amounting to P
= 714 million plus accrued interest
amounting to P
= 199 million. Dividends received from EDC were used to partially prepay the
loan.
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Discharged Shares
I. On July 11, 2011, pursuant to the amended and restated Omnibus Loan and Security
Agreement, the Lenders agreed to a partial release of the Pledged Assets and Pledged
Shares ("Pledged Securities"). The Lenders instructed the Security Trustee to release
and discharge the pledge and any and all liens in favor of the Lenders on 5,045,508,270
common stock in EDC (the “Discharged Shares”), and the Security Trustee thereafter
released and discharged the pledge and any and all liens over the Discharged Shares.
After the release of the Discharged Shares, the Pledged Securities now consisted of the
Pledged Assets on 209,913,000 common stock and preferred stock of Red Vulcan and the
Pledged Shares on 2,454,491,730 common stock and 9,375,000,000 preferred stock of
EDC.
II. On February 21, 2013, pursuant to amendment and restated Omnibus Loan and Security
Agreement (Amendment No. 4), the Lenders agreed to a release of the Pledged Assets
and a partial release of the Pledged Shares. The Lenders instructed the Security Trustee
to release and discharge the pledge and any and all liens in favor of the Lenders on
209,913,000 common stock and preferred stock of Red Vulcan and on 9,375,000,000
preferred stock of EDC. After the release of the Discharged Shares, the Pledged
Securities now only consists of the Pledged Shares on 2,454,491,730 common stock of
EDC.
Also pursuant to Amendment No. 4 of the Staple Financing Agreement, the Lenders
agreed to extend the term of the loan for another three years and six months from the
original maturity date of May 15, 2014. The loan will mature on November 14, 2017.
FG Hydro Loan (P
= 4.3 billion). On May 7, 2010, FG Hydro signed a loan agreement for a 10year P
= 5,000 million loan with PNB and Allied Bank with a tenor of ten years. The loan is
secured by a real estate and chattel mortgages on all present and future mortgageable assets
of FG Hydro. The loan carries an interest rate of 9.025% subject to re-pricing after five years.
On November 7, 2012, FG Hydro’s outstanding loan amounting to P
= 4.3 billion was
restructured by way of an amendment to the loan agreement. The amended agreement
provided for a change in the determination of the applicable interest rates and extended the
maturity date of the loan by two years with the last repayment to be made on November 7,
2022. FG Hydro has the option to select its new applicable interest rate between a fixed or a
floating interest rate. FG Hydro opted to avail of the loan at the floating rate which is the
higher of the 6-month PDST-F rate plus a margin of 1.50% per annum or the BSP overnight
rate plus a margin of 1% per annum as determined on the interest rate setting date. For the
first interest period, the applicable rate was determined as the BSP overnight rate of 3.5% plus
1% margin. The principal and interest on the loan are payable on a semi-annual basis.
FG Hydro has assessed that the loan restructuring resulted in substantial modification of the
terms of the original loan; hence, the original loan was considered extinguished. Amortization
of the remaining transaction cost of the old loan amounting to P
= 49 million was accelerated and
the transaction cost incurred for the restructured loan amounting to P
= 24 million was
recognized as part of the loss on extinguishment of debt.
With the merger of PNB and Allied Bank in February 2013, FG Hydro’s outstanding loan as of
that date was consolidated under PNB.
FG Hydro is obligated to comply with certain covenants with respect to maintaining specified
debt-to-equity and minimum debt service coverage ratios, as set forth in its loan covenant with
creditors. As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, FG Hydro is in compliance with
those covenants.
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FNPC’s $265 million Export Credit Facility. On July 10, 2014, FNPC signed a P
= 11,851 million
($265 million) Export Credit Facility with KfW IPEX-Bank of Germany (KfW) with a tenor of
13.7 years to partially finance the 414-MW San Gabriel natural gas-fired power project. This
facility has an export credit guarantee provided by Euler Hermes, acting on behalf of the
Federal Republic of Germany. The proceeds of the loan will be used primarily to finance the
eligible German and non-German goods and services under the Supply Contract of FNPC
with Siemens AG, the equipment supplier. FNPC (as the Borrower) and AlliedGen (as the
Pledgor) also signed a Pledge Agreement wherein AlliedGen has pledged over 100% of the
issued and outstanding capital stock of FNPC in favor of KfW. Furthermore, First Gen signed
a Guarantee and Indemnity Agreement with KfW, guaranteeing FNPC’s punctual performance
on all its payment obligations under the Export Credit Facility loan agreement.
With respect to the Export Credit Facility, the interest is paid semi-annually, every March and
September, using the fixed interest rate (per annum) of 3.12% plus 25 basis points.
As of December 31, 2014, FNPC made a total drawdown on the Export Credit Facility
amounting to P
= 4,239 million ($95 million).
In addition, FNPC pays a commitment fee of 0.6% per annum on the undrawn amount. As of
December 31, 2014, total deferred debt issuance costs pertaining to the undrawn portion
amounts to P
= 783 million ($17 million). This amount is included in the “Other noncurrent
assets” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
At inception, the loan was recorded net of debt issuance cost amounting to P
= 431 million ($10
million).
Real Estate Companies
Rockwell Land
Peso Bonds. On November 15, 2013, Rockwell Land issued P
= 5,000 million unsecured fixedrate retail peso bonds. The bonds have a term of seven (7) years and one (1) quarter from
the issue date, with fixed interest rate equivalent to 5.0932% per annum. Interest on the
bonds will be payable quarterly in arrears commencing on February 15, 2014.
The bonds were offered to the public at face value through its underwriters First Metro
Investment Corporation and SB Capital and Investment Corporation. The bonds were issued
in scripless form, with the Philippine Depository & Trust Corporation maintaining the Electronic
Registry of Bondholders, as the Registrar of the Bonds. On issue date, the bonds were listed
in Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corporation to facilitate secondary trading.
The bonds shall be redeemed at par (or 100% of face value) on February 15, 2021, its
maturity date, unless Rockwell Land exercises its early redemption option in accordance with
certain conditions. The embedded early redemption is clearly and closely related to the host
debt contract; thus, not required to be bifurcated and accounted for separately from the host
contract.
The loan contains, among others, covenants regarding incurring additional long-term debts
and paying-out dividends, to the extent that such will result in a breach of the required debt-toequity ratio and current ratio. As at December 31, 2014, Rockwell Land has complied with
these covenants.
Corporate Notes. On November 27, 2012, Rockwell Land entered into a Fixed Rate
Corporate Notes Facility Agreement (“the Agreement”) with First Metro Investment
Corporation, PNB Capital and Investment Corporation (Joint Lead Arrangers), MBTC – Trust
Banking Group (Facility Agent and Collateral Trustee), and Philippine National Bank – Trust
Banking Group (Paying Agent) for a P
= 10,000 million fixed rate corporate notes (“the Notes”) to
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finance Rockwell Land’s capital expenditures and land acquisitions. The Notes are comprised
of Tranche 1, Tranche 2 and Tranche 3, amounting to P
= 4,000 million, P
= 2,000 million and P
=
4,000 million, respectively. Tranches 1 and 2 were availed on January 7, 2013 and March 7,
2013, respectively. Tranche 3 was availed in three drawdowns amounting to
P
= 1,000 million, P
= 1,500 million and P
= 1,500 million on May 27, 2013, July 26, 2013 and August
27, 2013, respectively. The Notes is payable in 22 quarterly payments starting October 2014.
A portion of Tranche 2 amounting to P
= 1,200 million will be paid annually at 1% of the principal
amount from the issue date for 6 years while the remaining 94% of the principal amount is
payable in 2020.
The Notes are only secured by a negative pledge.
Interest is fixed up to maturity at 75 to 90 bps over the seven-year PDST-F, grossed-up for
GRT.
The loan contains, among others, covenants regarding incurring additional debt and dividend,
to the extent that such will result in a breach of the required debt-to-equity ratio and current
ratio. To date, the Rockwell Land has complied with these covenants.
Peso-Denominated Loans from Various Local Banks and Financial Institutions. Rockwell
Land had peso-denominated loans from various local banks which have been fully settled in
2013.
Loan Transaction Costs. As at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, loan transaction
costs consisting of documentary stamp tax and underwriting fees on the corporate notes and
bonds were capitalized and presented as a deduction from the related loan balance.
Notes Payable. On December 22, 2014, Rockwell Primaries issued promissory notes to
Maybank ATR for the remaining unpaid balance of the acquisition cost of 60% interest in
ATRKE Land amounting to P
= 421.2 million, payable on five equal amortization with 5% interest
per annum.
Installment Payable. In November 2011, Rockwell Land entered into a Deed of Sale with
Futura Realty, Inc. for the purchase of land for development adjacent to the Rockwell Center
intended for the latest condominium project of Rockwell Land called “Proscenium” Project.
Under the Deed of Sale, Rockwell Land will pay for the cost of the property in installment until
year 2015 and a one-time payment in year 2020. The installment payable and the
corresponding land held for development were recorded at present value using the discount
rate of 8%.
Installment payable is secured by Stand-By Letters of Credit (SBLC) from MBTC and FMIC
totaling P
= 2.400 million. These SBLC provides for a cross default provision wherein the SBLC
shall automatically be due and payable in the event Rockwell Land’s other obligation is not
paid when due or a default in any other agreement shall have occurred, entitling the holder of
the obligation to cause such obligation to become due prior to its stated maturity.
The related deferred input VAT, net of current portion, is recognized as part of “Other
noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated statements of financial position. This deferred
input VAT will be claimed against output VAT upon payment of the related installment
payable.
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c. Manufacturing Companies
First Philec’s US$20.6 million Secured loan. On December 17, 2012, First Philec entered into
a loan agreement with PNB with the following terms:
i. The interest is equal to the applicable base rate of the loan plus the interest margin, where
the base rate applicable shall be the floating rate interest (3.5% + 90 days LIBOR).
ii. The term is ten years.
iii. First Philec is required to maintain a maximum debt to equity ratio of 3:1. First Philec is in
compliance with the debt covenant as at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

d. Others
First Balfour and Thermaprime have the following long-term debts:
First Balfour’s PNB Loan Agreement. This represents a loan agreement for an aggregate
principal amount of P
= 1,000 million with an initial drawdown of P
= 600 million in October 2013,
specifically for the acquisition of machinery and equipment. The loan is payable over 10 semiannual payments and subject to floating interest rate determined on the relevant interest rate
setting date on each interest payment date. The loan is secured by a chattel mortgage over
First Balfour's existing machinery and equipment.
First Balfour’s BDO Finance Leases. In September 2010, this pertains to a facility agreement
with the Banco de Oro Unibank amounting to P
= 120 million specifically to fund the land
acquisition, construction, and renovation of a plant and office space. The principal amount of
the loan shall be payable in nine equal semi-annual payments in arrears commencing at the
end of the twelfth month after initial availment date. Payment of interest on the outstanding
principal amount of the loan is at the applicable interest rate, which shall be determined on the
relevant interest rate setting date, on each interest payment date for the interest period then
ending. The Company prepaid the loan on December 22, 2014.
First Balfour’s ORIX Long-term Notes. This represents various equipment financing loans
availed on various periods from ORIX Metro Leasing and Finance Corporation with interests
ranging from 7% to 7.75% and terms of 60 months. This is secured by a chattel mortgage
over the equipment purchased out of the proceeds of the loan.
Thermaprime’s BOT Sale and Leaseback. On May 2, 2014, Thermaprime entered into a sale
and leaseback agreement with BOT where Thermaprime sold eight (8) units of crane
equipment and subsequently leased back for a period of sixty (60) months. These equipment
were subsequently leased back by the latter to Thermaprime.
The assets held under finance lease are included as part of “Machinery and equipment” under
“Property and equipment” account in the statement of financial position. The cost and
accumulated depreciation of these machinery and equipment amounted to P
= 300 million and
P
= 20 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2014.
Thermaprime’s PNB Loan Agreement. On March 17, 2014, Thermaprime entered into a
P
= 1 billion loan agreement with Philippine National Bank (PNB) with initial drawdown of
P
= 434 million, specifically for the acquisition of machinery and equipment. The loan is payable
over 9 semi-annual payments starting March 17, 2015 until March 17, 2019 and with an
interest rate of 6% per annum. The loan is secured by a chattel mortgage over the same
machinery and equipment acquired (see Note 12).
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On July 8, 2014, Thermaprime and PNB amended the Omnibus Loan and Security Agreement
(OLSA) to increase the loan facility from P
= 1 billion to P
= 1.3 billion.
On September 15, 2014, a second drawdown amounting to P
= 866 million was completed from
the P
= 1.3 billion total loan. The loan is also payable over 9 semi-annual payments starting
March 17, 2015 until March 17, 2019 with an interest rate of 6.29% per annum.
Under the OLSA, Thermaprime shall maintain a Debt-to-Equity ratio of not greater than 2.0x
until the payment of the loan, calculated on the basis of the annual audited financial
statements. Further, Thermaprime shall maintain a Debt Service Coverage ratio of not less
than 1:1 beginning December 31, 2014. The Debt Service Coverage Ratio shall be the ratio
of EBITDA, based on the most recent audited financial statements, to the principal
amortizations and interest for the following fiscal year.
The OLSA also provides that Thermaprime shall establish and maintain several special
purpose cash collateral accounts from which disbursements and debt service payments will be
made and to which revenues directly related to the use or engagement of the chattel will be
deposited. Further, until payment in full of the principal amount, interest penalty and other
amounts due to PNB, Thermaprime is subject to negative covenants requiring prior approval
of the creditor for specified corporate acts, such as making or granting of loans or advances
except as otherwise provided in the OLSA, impairment of the validity or enforceability of the
mortgaged collateral, change in business character of Thermaprime and disposition of all or
substantially all of its assets, among others.
To date, First Balfour and Thermaprime are in compliance with all the requirements of its debt
covenants.

7. Equity
a. Capital Stock
Number of Shares
September 30,
December 31,
2015
2014
5,500,000,000
5,500,000,000

Authorized - P
= 1 par value
Issued:
Balance at beginning of year
Issuances through exercise
of options
Balance at end of year

4,592,882,360

4,588,319,196

5,432,611
4,598,314,971

4,563,164
4,592,882,360

Below is a summary of the capital stock movement of the Parent Company:

Date of Approval
October 18, 1993
October 18, 1993
Primary Offering
Shares Reserved for
Convertible Bonds
Secondary Offering

Authorized
Capital Stock
4,000,000,000

New
Subscriptions/
Issuances

Issue/
Offer Price

459,049,000

P
= 3.50

297,620,000
328,571,000

4.20
3.50
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July 4, 1995
February 18, 1998

1,500,000,000

28,098,000
1,306,805,756

4.20
5.45

The total number of shareholders, which includes PCD Nominee Corporation, as at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 is 8,922 and 8,996 respectively.
b. Retained Earnings
The Parent Company’s retained earnings available for dividend declaration, computed based
on the guidelines provided in SEC Memorandum Circular No. 11, amounted to P
= 3,979 million.
as of September 30, 2015 and P
= 3,524 million as of December 31, 2014.
On June 6, 2014, the BOD of the Parent Company approved a dividend of P
= 0.10 per
share to stockholders of record as at June 6, 2014 and paid an amount of P
= 463 million on
June 27, 2014.
c.

Equity Reserve
Parent Company
Parent Company’s equity reserve arises from FPH’s acquisition of treasury stocks and FPH’s
issuances of shares to non-controlling shareholders to reflect changes in equity attributable to
the Parent Company and NCI.
Parent Company’s share in equity reserve of FPH
Equity reserve includes equity reserve of FPH which consists of:
2014
(Amounts In Millions)
First Gen’s acquisition of 40% stake in the First Gas
Group (see Note 5)
First Gen and Northern Terracota’s acquisition of
EDC shares
FPH’s acquisition of 40% stake in FPUC from Union
Fenosa Internacional, S.A and Dilution of
Interest in First Gen
EDC’s acquisition of FG Hydro
Rockwell Land’s equity adjustment
Northern Terracota’s acquisition of EDC shares
(see Note 5)
FPH’s purchase of Rockwell Land shares from San
Miguel Corporation (see Note 5)
First Philec’s transactions with non-controlling
shareholders in FPSC
First Gen’s acquisition of Prime Terracota
preferred shares



(P
= 7,170)
(4,431)

(2,581)
1,286
249
(201)
86

24
(3)
(P
= 12,741)

First Gen acquisition of Series “B” voting preferred shares of Prime Terracota Holdings,
Corp (Prime Terracota)
On May 20, 2014, First Gen purchased 31.0 million Series “B” voting preferred shares of
Prime Terracota Holdings, Corp (Prime Terracota) owned by Employees Retirement Plan
of Lopez Inc. (Lopez Inc. Retirement Fund) [LIRF] for a total consideration of $1.1 million.
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As a result of the transaction, First Gen’s direct voting interest in Prime Terracota has
increased from 45.0% to 73.4% and its effective voting interest in EDC has likewise
increased from 33.6% to 50.7% through Prime Terracota. As of December 31, 2014, the
amount of equity reserve pertaining to the acquisition of the non-controlling stake of LIRF
in Prime Terracota amounted to P
= 4.5 million. The share of FPH in the equity reserve
adjustment amounts to P
= 3.0 million.


First Gen and Northern Terracota’s acquisition of EDC shares
On March 2, 2011, First Gen and Northern Terracotta executed a Deed of Assignment to
assign and sell First Gen’s full rights and obligations over the first tranche of an aggregate
585 million EDC common shares covered by the Call Option Agreements. The
assignment gives Northern Terracotta the right to exercise the call option over 195 million
EDC shares on or before April 19, 2011, which is the expiration of the first exercise period,
at an exercise price of P
= 5.67 per share with a total cost amounting to
P
= 1,106 million. The option was exercised by Northern Terracotta on March 8, 2011. The
remaining option assets covering the 390 million shares were exercised by First Gen on
April 5, 2011 at an exercise price of P
= 5.51 per share for a total cost of P
= 2,149 million. The
transaction resulted in an equity reserve amounting to P
= 4,199 million.
In 2013, First Gen acquired additional shares of EDC resulting in an equity reserve of
P
= 528 million, of which P
= 232 million is attributable to FPH.



FPH’s Acquisition of 40% stake in FPUC from Union Fenosa Internacional, S.A and
Dilution of Interest in First Gen
The amount of P
= 2,581 million represents the net effect of FPH’s acquisition of 40% FPUC
from Union Fenosa Internacional, S.A.’s on January 23, 2008 and of the dilution of FPH’s
interest in First Gen as a result of the latter’s public offering of common shares in 2007.



EDC’s acquisition of FG Hydro
On October 16, 2008, EDC, First Gen and FG Hydro entered into a Share Purchase and
Investment Agreement (SPIA), whereby EDC shall own 60% of the outstanding equity of
FG Hydro, which was then a wholly owned subsidiary of First Gen prior to the SPIA. FG
Hydro and EDC were subsidiaries of First Gen at that time and were, therefore, under
common control of First Gen. The acquisition was accounted for similar to a pooling-ofinterests method since First Gen controlled FG Hydro and EDC before and after the
execution of the SPIA. EDC recognized equity reserve pertaining to the difference
between the acquisition cost and EDC’s proportionate share in the paid-in capital of FG
Hydro.



Rockwell Land’s equity adjustment
This account represents the difference between the consideration received from the sale
of the proprietary shares and the carrying value of the related interest.



First Philec’s transactions with non-controlling shareholders in First Philec Solar
First Philec subscribed to additional shares in First Philec Solar in 2010. These resulted in
increased in First Philec’s interest to 74.54% which resulted in equity adjustment of
P
= 24 million in 2010.
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Parent Company’s share in equity adjustment through investment in PDRs
The Parent Company’s share in the equity adjustments of ABS-CBN through its investment in
PDRs amounted to P
= 201 million as at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

8. Executive Stock Option Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Parent Company has an Executive Stock Option Plan (ESOP) and an Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP) that was approved by the BOD and stockholders on November 8, 2010
and February 28, 2011, respectively. Under the ESOP and ESPP, an aggregate of 120,000,000
common shares has been allocated and may be issued upon the exercise by the eligible
participants of the stock option and purchase plan.
The terms of the ESOP, include among others, a limit as to the number of shares a qualified
regular employee or qualified director of the Parent Company may purchase and the manner of
payment is through cash or check over a period of five years. The stock options vest annually at a
rate of 20%, making it fully vested after five years from the grant date. All qualified participants
th
are given until 10 year of the grant date to exercise the stock option.
The terms of ESPP, include among others, a limit as to the number of shares a qualified regular
employee or officer or qualified director of the Parent Company and Lopez or a qualified officers of
the Parent Company’s subsidiaries and associates may purchase and the manner of payment
based on equal semi-monthly or monthly installments over a period of five years through salary
deductions. The stock options vest after two years from the grant date. All qualified participants
th
are given until 10 year of the grant date to exercise the stock option.
The primary terms of the grants follow:

Grant date
Number of shares subscribed
Offer price per share (P
=)
Option value per share (P
=)

ESOP
March 2011
4,268,191
4.573
2.29

ESPP
March 2011
43,631,200
4.573
1.65

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes Option Model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the option grants:

Expected volatility (%)
Weighted average share price (P
=)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of option (years)
Dividend yield (%)

ESOP
44.0
4.57
5.4
5.0
2.5

ESPP
42.6
4.57
4.3
2.0
2.5

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which likewise, may not necessarily be the actual outcome. The expected life of the
options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may
occur. No other features of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of the fair value
of the options.
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The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of and
movements in share options:

Balance at beginning of period
Exercised during the period
Cancelled during the period
Balance at end of period

September 30, 2015
December 31, 2014
Number of
Number of
share
share
options
WAEP
options
WAEP
36,664,775
P
= 4.57
41,427,939
P
= 4.57
(1,751,537)
4.57
(4,563,164)
4.57
–
–
(200,000)
4.57
34,913,238
P
= 4.57
36,664,775
P
= 4.57

Exercisable at end of period

33,211,962

P
= 4.57

34,963,499

P
= 4.57

No expense is recognized or the period ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
FPH’s Executive Stock Option Plan
FPH has an Executive Stock Option Plan (FPH ESOP) that entitles the directors, and senior
officers to purchase up to 10% of FPH’s authorized capital stock on the offering years at a preset
purchase price with payment and other terms to be defined at the time of the offering. The
purchase price per share shall not be less than the average of the last dealt price per share of
FPH’s share of stock.
The terms of the FPH ESOP include, among others, a limit as to the number of shares an
executive and employee may purchase and the manner of payment based on equal semi-monthly
installments over a period of 5 or 10 years through salary deductions.
The primary terms of the grants follow:
Grant date
Offer price per share
Number of shares subscribed
Option value per share

Option 1
March 2003
10.00
18,043,622
4.77

Option 2
September 2003
17.7
1,811,944
9.83

Option 3
March 2004
23.55
4,771,238
11.84

Option 4
September 2004
27.10
198,203
14.78

Option 5
March 2005
58.6
1,801,816
32.68

Option 6
March 2006
41.65
3,002,307
8.83

The option grants are offered within 30 days upon receipt of the agreement for new entitled
th
officers. The said officers are given until the 10 year of the grant date to exercise the option.
These options vest annually at a rate of 20%, making it fully vested after 5 years from the grant
date. The fair value of equity-settled share options granted under the ESOP is estimated at the
dates of grant using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the models used for each of the grants:
Expected volatility (%)
Weighted average share price (P
=)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of option (years)
Dividend yield (%)

Option 1
38.2
8.40
12.38
5.5
nil

Option 2
38.2
18.25
10.55
5.5
nil

Option 3
38.2
21.75
10.88
5.5
nil

Option 4
38.2
26.00
12.23
5.5
nil

Option 5
38.2
60.00
10.88
5.5
nil

Option 6
21.7
41
8.50
5.5
5

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which likewise, may not necessarily be the actual
outcome.
No other features of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of the fair value of the
options.
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Movements in the number of stock options outstanding are as follows:

Total shares allocated

2014
40,570,714

Options exercisable:
Balance at beginning of year
Exercised
Balance at end of year

1,908,965
(1,027,388)
881,577

There were no additional grants since 2006.
In 2014, the average exercise price of the stock option per share under the ESOP is
P
= 48.69. In 2014, no expense is recognized for share-based payment as the employee’s rights to
receive the benefits from the FPH ESOP have fully vested in 2011.
Rockwell Land’s Employee Stock Option Plan
Rockwell Land has an Executive Stock Option Plan (Rockwell Land ESOP) that was approved by
the BOD and stockholders on May 2, 2012 and August 3, 2012, respectively. The ESOP is
offered to all regular employees of Rockwell Land including employees seconded to other affiliates
or other individuals that the Board of Administrators may decide to include. The aggregate
number of Rockwell Land ESOP shares that may be issued shall not at any time exceed 3% of the
issued capital stock or 192,630,881 common shares of Rockwell Land on a fully diluted basis and
may be issued upon the exercise by the eligible participants of the stock option plans. The
maximum numbers of shares a participant is entitled to shall be determined as a multiple of the
gross basic monthly salary based on rank and performance for the year preceding the award. The
option is exercisable anytime within the Option Term once vested. The Rockwell Land ESOP was
approved by the SEC on December 6, 2012 and was communicated to the employees on
January 3, 2013.
The terms of the Rockwell Land ESOP include, among others, a limit as to the number of shares a
qualified regular employee of Rockwell Land including employees seconded to other affiliates or
other individuals that the Board of Administrators may decide to include may purchase. Options
are expected to be granted annually over a period of 5 years. Options granted are vested after
th
one year. All qualified participants are given until 10 year of the grant date to exercise the stock
option.
The primary terms of the grants follow:
Grant date
Number of options granted
Offer price per share
Option value per share

January 3, 2013
63,740,000
P
= 1.46
P
= 1.43

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using the
binomial option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the option grants:
Expected volatility
Exercise price
Spot price
Risk-free interest rate
Term to maturity
Dividend yield

36.94%
P
= 1.46
P
= 2.52
4.19%
10 years
1.91%
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The expected volatility reflects the average historical volatility of peer companies based on a
lookback period consistent with the term to maturity of the option. This may likewise not
necessarily be the actual volatility outcome. The effects of expected early exercise, including the
impact of the vesting period and blackout periods, are captured in the binomial model. No other
features of the options grant were incorporated into the measurement of the fair value of the
options.
Movements in the number of stock options outstanding are as follows:

Total shares allocated
Options exercisable:
Balance at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Balance at end of year

2014
192,630,881
48,700,000
–
–
48,700,000

No expense is recognized or the period ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes Option Model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the option grants:
Expected volatility
Weighted average share price
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of option
Dividend yield

42.6%
P
= 4.573
4.3%
2 years
2.5%

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which likewise, may not necessarily be the actual outcome. The expected life of the
options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may
occur. No other features of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of the fair value
of the options.

9. EPS Computation
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share
computations:
2015
2014
(Amounts in Millions, except Number of shares)
(a) Net income attributable to equity holders
of the parent
Add interest on convertible bonds and
amortization of bond issue cost
(b) Net income attributable to equity holders
of the Parent Company - diluted

P
= 4,355

P
= 3,154

1

1

P
= 4,356

P
= 3,155
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(c) Weighted average number of common
shares – basic
Dilutive potential common shares under the:
Conversion of bonds
ESOP and ESPP
Effect of issuance of shares during the year
(d) Adjusted weighted average common shares – diluted
Per share amounts:
Basic (a/c)
Diluted (b/d)

4,594,561,718

4,589,862,605

551,814
16,310,880
5,432,611
4,616,857,023

551,814
1,701,091
–
4,592,115,510

P
= 0.9479
P
= 0.9435

P
= 0.6872
P
= 0.6870

Through FPH’s subsidiaries, the conversion of the stok options of First Gen and Rockwell Land
did not have significant impact on the diluted earnings per share calculation of the Group for the
period ended September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

LOPEZ HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
AGING OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2015
(Amounts in Millions)

TYPE OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables
Non-trade receivables
Total

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE DESCRIPTION
1. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2. NON TRADE RECEIVABLES

NORMAL OPERATING CYCLE

TOTAL

25,860
4,252
30,112

Less than 1

More than
1 month to

More than
3 months
to 6

Over 6

month

3 months

months

months

20,918

2,609

277

2,547

- accumulated through the normal course of business, i.e sale of airing spots
- accumulated through transactions other than the normal course
of business, i.e. sale of airing spots
- calendar year

